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In October 2002, plaintiff Storage Technology Corporation (“STK”) filed suit

against defendants Custom Hardware Engineering & Consulting, Inc. (“CHE”), PD

Properties, LLC (“PDP”), and David York.  STK manufactures automated libraries

(“silos”) that store large quantities of data on tape cartridges.  Each silo houses

numerous cartridges and is connected to a Library Control Unit (“LCU”) that monitors

and controls operation of the silo; each LCU is, in turn, connected via local area

network (“LAN”) to a Library Management Unit (“LMU”), which directs and controls

multiple LCUs and silos.  “To access data from the library, a user sends a request for

the data to the [LMU],” which then “transmits commands to the appropriate [LCU],”

which finds and reads the data, and then “sends the data over the network back to the

[LMU].”  Storage Tech. Corp. v. Custom Hardware Eng’g & Consulting, Inc., 421 F.3d

1307, 1309 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (“Storage Tech. II”), reh’g denied 431 F.3d 1374 (Fed. Cir.
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2005).  The computer code controlling these units is referred to as LMU Code (or “9330

Code”) and LCU Code (or “9311 Code”), and it is copyrighted.  Both LMU and LCU

Code consist of two distinct but intertwined groups: Functional Code, which “cause[s]

the [LMU and LCU] to run,” and Maintenance Code, which “diagnose[s] malfunctions

and maintain[s] . . . performance.”  Id. at 1310.

CHE repairs STK libraries.  In order to diagnose problems, CHE intercepts and

interprets error messages, which are generated by the LCU and transmitted to the

LMU.  These numeric error messages, known as Fault Symptom Codes (“FSCs”), are

packaged within an “Event Message.”  FSCs are generated all the time, but they are

only sent only if the LCU is set at an enhanced maintenance level; they are not sent at

maintenance level zero.  STK tries to prevent others from using FSCs by setting the

maintenance level of its silos to zero and requiring a password to change the

maintenance level.  The password protection scheme is known as “GetKey.”  To

intercept and interpret FSCs, CHE must therefore bypass GetKey and change the

maintenance level.  CHE first used a device known as the Library Event Manager

(“LEM”) and a program called reverse.exe.  Eventually, it switched to the Enhanced

Library Event Manager (“ELEM”).  Both devices allow CHE to overcome GetKey,

change the maintenance level, and access FSCs and other STK diagnostic tools.

In 2002, STK filed suit.  Its complaint, as subsequently amended, alleged

copyright infringement, violation of the Digital Millenium Copyright Act (“DMCA”), 17

U.S.C. § 1201(a), trade secret misappropriation, patent infringement, false advertising,

and various state law claims.  CHE counterclaimed, alleging that STK had committed
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antitrust and state law violations.  In January 2003, STK moved for a preliminary

injunction, which I granted upon finding that it had shown a substantial likelihood of

success on its copyright, DMCA, and trade secret claims, and that CHE’s antitrust

counterclaims would likely fail.  See Storage Tech Corp. v. Custom Hardware Eng’g &

Consulting, Inc., No. 02-12102-RWZ, 2004 WL 1497688, at *5 (D. Mass. July 2, 2004)

(“Storage Tech. I”).  CHE appealed, and in August 2005, the Federal Circuit vacated

the preliminary injunction, upon finding that CHE was likely to prevail on all three of the

claims at issue.  See Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1321.  

Currently before me are the parties’ numerous pending motions.  Before

deciding them, I note once again the extreme excesses to which these parties have

been prone.  Not only have they asserted a total of thirty-eight counts against one

another, in this most recent round they have filed no fewer than ten motions to dismiss

and fifteen motions for summary judgment.  To illustrate the overlapping, unwieldy

nature of the litigation, consider one example.  Count 9 of STK’s Third Amended

Complaint (“Compl.”) alleges patent infringement.  It is addressed in: PDP’s Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment (Docket #609) as well as a supplemental motion (#764). 

These filings have brought forth STK’s oppositions (##679, 779), PDP’s reply (#730),

and the usual memoranda, statements of fact, and multi-volume sets of exhibits (##611-

13, 680, 690-91, 780, 783-86).  Count 9 is also addressed by CHE in two separately

filed Motions for Partial Summary Judgment (##616 and 617), which are joined by York

(#614), and accompanied by two appendices (##620-21), three separately filed

oppositions from STK (##681, 683, 687), supporting papers and exhibits (##682, 684,
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695, 699), and two replies (##724, 725).  Finally, STK has filed two motions to dismiss

directed toward CHE’s affirmative defenses to Count 9 and related counterclaims

(##338 and 622), which motions CHE has opposed (##361 and 659), thereby eliciting

STK’s reply (#731).

As the above example makes clear, deciding the motions seriatim would make

little sense as multiple motions often address any one count.  I therefore address the

parties’ submissions as they pertain to each count.  First, however, I address a

preliminary issue of personal jurisdiction.

PDP’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction (#310)

PDP is a wholly owned subsidiary of CHE, which was allegedly established by

CHE and York as a holding company for CHE’s intellectual property rights.  It moves to

dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, contesting STK’s ability to meet the

requirements of either the Massachusetts long-arm statute, M.G.L. c. 223A, § 3, or the

Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause.  STK bears the burden of proving

personal jurisdiction, see Boit v. Gar-Tec Prods., Inc., 967 F.2d 671, 675 (1st Cir.

1992), which the parties agree must in this case be specific.  (#310, at 2 n.1; #354, at

5).  In relevant part, the Massachusetts long-arm statute provides courts with

jurisdiction over persons or entities who (1) cause tortious injury by an act or omission

inside the Commonwealth, or (2) cause tortious injury by an act or omission outside the

Commonwealth, “if [the person or entity] regularly does or solicits business, or engages

in any other persistent course of conduct, or derives substantial revenue from goods
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used or consumed or services rendered, in this Commonwealth.”  M.G.L. c. 223A, §

3(c), (d). 

STK has asserted facts and submitted evidence giving rise to personal

jurisdiction over PDP under any of the standards courts apply to a personal jurisdiction

analysis.  See Boit, 967 F.2d at 675-78 (describing prima facie, preponderance of the

evidence, and likelihood standards).  PDP, which until the filing of suit was the holding

company for CHE’s intellectual property rights, is headed by York, who is also the head

of CHE.  In 2000, PDP contracted with a third party to create LEM and ELEM, which

devices it then licensed to CHE.  CHE, in turn, used LEM and ELEM to provide

maintenance services to customers throughout the country, including Allmerica, a

business located in Worcester, Massachusetts.  In the course of providing these

services, the record indicates that CHE accessed STK’s Maintenance Code, Event

Messages, and FSC Dictionaries, and additionally caused STK’s silos to perform

calibration operations.  STK has alleged that CHE thereby misappropriated its trade

secrets and infringed its patents and that PDP was both directly and indirectly involved

in such wrongdoing.  In relation to the Allmerica account, PDP’s conduct occurred both

outside and within the state, as is evidenced by the purchase order and invoice naming

PDP, and not CHE, as the party that sold the LEM device and licensed the LEM

technology to Allmerica.  This evidence is sufficient to meet the requirements of both

subsections of § 3 of the long-arm statute.

Furthermore, as discussed in greater detail below, STK is entitled to proceed to

trial against both CHE and PDP on its trade secret and one of its patent infringement
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claims.  In other words, STK has offered sufficient evidence of tortious injury within

Massachusetts caused in part by PDP’s conduct to proceed to trial.  To the extent that

“factual issues are common to both the jurisdictional question and the claim on the

merits,” Boit, 976 F.2d 671, STK’s ability to withstand summary judgment scrutiny on

these claims indicates it is entitled to prevail on the jurisdictional question as well.   

Finally, the Allmerica documents establish this court’s jurisdiction under federal

due process requirements.  See United Elec. Radio & Mach. Workers of Am. v. 163

Pleasant St. Corp., 960 F.2d 1080, 1089 (1st Cir. 1992).  First, STK’s trade secret

misappropriation and patent infringement claims arise, in part, out of PDP’s contacts

with Allmerica, both directly and derivatively through CHE.  Second, PDP’s transactions

with Allmerica demonstrate that it purposefully availed itself of the privilege of

conducting activities within the Commonwealth and should therefore reasonably have

foreseen that it was subject to the jurisdiction of the state’s courts.  And third, under the

relevant “gestalt” factors, jurisdiction is reasonable. 

Accordingly, the motion is denied.

Motions Concerning STK’s Third Amended Complaint

Counts 1 and 8: Direct and Indirect/Vicarious Copyright Infringement

In Counts 1 and 8, STK alleges direct and indirect copyright infringement against

CHE and PDP, and York, respectively.  Specifically, STK alleges that devices

developed by defendants and used by CHE in servicing STK libraries infringe STK’s

copyrighted microcode.  The motions addressing this claim are: PDP’s Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment (#609), PDP’s and York’s Supplemental Motion for



1STK concedes that two copies are not in dispute: the Maintenance Code copy
created when the LCU and LMU are turned on, which was adjudicated by the Federal
Circuit, and the copy of Event Messages, as to which STK has withdrawn its claim. 
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Summary Judgment (#764), CHE’s Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment as to

Count 1 (#772), and STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Count 1 (#623).  

Although the Federal Circuit held that CHE was “likely to prevail on the issue of

copyright infringement,” Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1317, STK still asserts that it is

entitled to pursue Count 1, albeit on narrower grounds.  CHE and PDP disagree,

arguing that the Federal Circuit’s decision disposed of STK’s entire copyright claim,

that STK is trying to expand Count 1 to encompass unpled claims, and that in any

event its infringement claims fail.  At issue are three allegedly infringing copies:1 (1)

reverse.exe, (2) Run Time Diagnostics, and (3) English translations of FSCs.   

I. reverse.exe

According to STK, the reverse.exe program is a “copy of STK’s LMU Code,” or

the 9330 code, which allows CHE to “create unauthorized GetKey passwords.”  (STK’s

Response, #679, at 3).  As noted above, GetKey is a password protection scheme with

which STK tries to control the maintenance level, and thereby access to the fruits of the

Maintenance Code.  CHE uses reverse.exe to create passwords that satisfy GetKey. 

STK claims that reverse.exe is an “unauthorized copy of STK’s LMU code.”  (#679, at

3).  Defendants respond that STK is impermissibly asserting an entirely new claim, and

I agree. 

STK’s copyright claim has always been premised upon the copying of

Maintenance Code.  The complaint states that the action “arises out of CHE’s blatant



8

copying . . . of . . . STK’s original computer Maintenance Code” (Compl. ¶ 1), and Count

1 specifically asserts that defendants have “copied and reproduced and used the

Maintenance Code.”  (Id. ¶ 36).  Indeed, STK has consistently focused upon

infringement of the Maintenance Code, not only in its motion for preliminary injunction

(#39), but also in its motion for summary judgment on Count I (#623, at 1

(characterizing claim as one to protect “copyrights in the Maintenance Code”)).

The term “Maintenance Code” has been defined repeatedly throughout the

litigation.  Maintenance Code is a portion of 9330 and 9311 Code, distinct from

Functional Code, and has three defining features.  First, it detects, diagnoses, and

analyzes equipment malfunctions.  See Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1310, 1313. 

Second, it is anything that is enabled or disabled by GetKey.  (See PDP’s Reply, #730,

at 4).  And third, it is any portion of STK’s computer code that is only used to support

maintenance functionality above maintenance level zero.  (Id. at 5).

The reverse.exe program does not fit within any of these definitions.  First, STK

nowhere alleges that reverse.exe detects, diagnoses, displays, or analyzes equipment

failures or otherwise falls within the Federal Circuit’s definition of Maintenance Code. 

Second, reverse.exe is not enabled or disabled by GetKey, quite the opposite:

reverse.exe allows users to bypass GetKey.  Finally, reverse.exe does not support

maintenance functionality above maintenance level zero.  The program assists CHE in

generating passwords, which in turn allows CHE to alter the maintenance level, but the

record nowhere suggests that reverse.exe supports functionality once the maintenance

level has been changed.  Instead, reverse.exe simply allows users to create



2It is telling that STK repeatedly characterizes reverse.exe as a copy of “STK’s
LMU Code” or “9330 Code,” rather than as a copy of Maintenance Code.  (E.g., #679,
at 2-3; #680, ¶ 7).  As explained above, LMU Code includes both Functional and
Maintenance Code.  Even if reverse.exe is a copy of LMU Code, it is not necessarily a
copy of Maintenance Code. 

9

passwords.  By the time STK’s machines are set to an enhanced maintenance level,

however, reverse.exe has fulfilled its role and, from the record, apparently has no

further function.  Because no reasonable jury could find that reverse.exe is a copy of

Maintenance Code, and because Count I is limited to infringement of Maintenance

Code, the claim thus falls beyond the scope of Count 1.2 

STK argues in the alternative that it should be allowed to amend its complaint to

pursue its reverse.exe claim, in part, because it did not learn of reverse.exe until the

parties had engaged in substantial discovery.  Yet STK’s summary judgment

motion—filed after the close of discovery in July 2005—did not mention reverse.exe. 

(## 623, 640).  Nor did STK seek leave to amend its complaint at any time after

learning of reverse.exe.  Its belated request comes nine months after the close of

discovery, not to mention following two amendments to the complaint, a preliminary

injunction motion that was amended, decided, and then appealed, as well as numerous

dispositive motions.  Although leave to amend is “ordinarily freely given,” in this

instance the request can only be described as “unduly delayed,” and is therefore

denied.  Saunders v. R.D. Werner Co., No. 04-10782, 1995 WL 598959, at *3 (D.

Mass. 1995) (citing Hayes v. New England Millwork Distributors, Inc., 602 F.2d 15, 19

(1st Cir. 1979)).

II. RTD Code and FSCs



3Although FSCs are a portion of the Event Messages, STK’s claim based on
Event Messages cannot be construed as preserving a claim based on FSCs or English
translations of FSCs.  STK has always distinguished between FSCs and Event
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Run Time Diagnostics (“RTD Code”) is “[t]he portion of the Maintenance Code

that actually diagnoses troubles in the hardware.”  (#39, at 8).  Unlike the rest of the

Maintenance Code, it is not automatically loaded upon power-up, but instead is loaded

only when utilized.  (#757, at 9).  STK asserts that it has “substantial evidence” that

CHE has utilized (and therefore copied) RTD Code.  STK also asserts infringement of

the “exact English language interpretation of what the error code (Fault Symptom Code

or FSC) means.”  (Id. at 9).  It does not assert infringement of the numeric FSCs

themselves or of the Event Messages within which they are contained, but solely

infringement of the English-language translations of FSCs.  Defendants seek summary

judgment on numerous grounds, but their primary objection is that STK abandoned

these claims earlier in the litigation.

STK argues that both RTD Code and English versions of FSCs are “portions” of

the Maintenance Code and therefore fall within the scope of Count I, which pleads

infringement of Maintenance Code.  It also notes that RTD Code and English versions

of FSCs were, unlike reverse.exe, identified by STK in its preliminary injunction motion

as infringing copies.  (#39, at 8).  Even accepting these assertions, however, I find

nevertheless that STK has waived these claims.  Specifically, by April 2004 when it

filed its amended motion for preliminary injunction, STK had narrowed its copyright

infringement claim to the copy of Maintenance Code created upon power-up (the “IPL

copy”) and copies of Event Messages.3  (See #282, at 2 (asking court “to enjoin CHE’s



Messages.  (#39, at 8-9 (listing separately copies of Event Messages and copies of
FSCs); #757, at 9 (same)).  Moreover, STK has voluntarily withdrawn its claim as to
Event Messages, while seeking to maintain its claim as to English versions of FSCs
(#757), further highlighting the distinction between the two. 

4Similarly, to the extent that STK relies on its proposed order of permanent
injunction (filed August 2003), that document preceded its amended preliminary
injunction motion (filed in April 2004) as well as its summary judgment motion (filed
August 2005), neither of which discusses RTD Code or English translations of FSCs.
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blatant copying and willful use of StorageTek’s intellectual property rights in its

Maintenance Code and excerpts thereof known as Event Messages”); see also id., Ex.

A, at 8-9).  Thus, my decision on the motion referred only to those copies.  Storage

Tech. I, 2004 WL 1497688, at *3 & n.3.  

STK argues that it should not be bound by the claims raised at the preliminary

injunction stage.  Even if STK is correct, however, the fact remains that STK’s own

summary judgment motion—filed in August 2005, after discovery was complete and

long after the ruling on its request for a preliminary injunction—is also devoid of any

reference to either RTD Code or FSCs.  Instead, the summary judgment motion is

focused entirely on the IPL copy.  (#640, at 6, 9, 12).  Indeed, although STK took care

to note that it was maintaining its Event Messages claim though not seeking summary

judgment on it (id. at 1 n.1), it made no similar mention of a claim based on RTD Code

or English versions of FSCs, as a subject either for summary judgment or for trial.4 

In fact, STK has affirmatively sought to benefit by limiting its infringement claim

to the IPL copy.  In a typical infringement case involving computer code, the alleged

infringer must be shown to have copied “constituent, original elements” of the program. 

Data Gen. Corp. v. Grumman Sys. Support, 36 F.3d 1147, 1160 n.19 (1st Cir. 1994). 
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That is, even if a plaintiff has copyrighted the computer program as a whole (as STK

has copyrighted the 9330 and 9311 Codes), it must still show that the “particular

elements” that the defendant is alleged to have infringed are copyright-protected. 

ILOG, Inc. v. Bell Logic, Inc., 181 F. Supp. 2d 3, 4 (D. Mass. 2002).  As part of this

showing, the plaintiff must—as a threshold matter—identify the particular elements

allegedly copied.  E.g., id. at 8 (plaintiff had responded to defendant’s interrogatory by

identifying “every line of code” allegedly copied).  

In this case, however, STK has consistently refused to so identify any particular

element of the Code.  Its refusal has been premised on the scope of its infringement

claim:  “Defendants are . . . copying each version of the 9330 and 9311 Maintenance

Code in its entirety (thus obviating any need to analyze what portions are ‘constituent,

original elements’).”  (#282, at 6 (footnote omitted, emphasis in original)).  In other

words, STK has maintained throughout that its copyright claim was based on the IPL

copy of the entire Maintenance Code, thereby obviating any need to identify specific

portions of the code, such as RTD Code or FSCs.  On that basis, STK steadfastly

refused to respond to CHE’s repeated requests for analysis of those portions of the

Maintenance Code that it had allegedly infringed, and its refusals were upheld by the

court.  Having strategically confined its infringement claim to “Maintenance Code in its

entirety,” and having thereby successfully limited CHE’s discovery, STK cannot now

seek to press an infringement claim based on precisely the elements of the

Maintenance Code that it refused to disclose.  
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On this record, I find that STK has abandoned any infringement claim it may

previously have asserted as to RTD Code and English translations of RTDs.  See

Schneider v. Loc. 103 I.B.E.W. Health Plan, 442 F.3d 1, 2-3 (1st Cir. 2006); Grenier v.

Cyanamid Plastics, Inc., 70 F.3d 667, 668 (1st Cir. 1995).  To the extent STK seeks to

amend its complaint to include allegations based on RTD Code or English translations

of FSCs, the request is denied, for reasons explained above in relation to reverse.exe.  

III. Conclusion

Accordingly, STK has waived, withdrawn, or is foreclosed from pursuing any

copyright infringement claim except its claim based on the IPL copy.  Because it

concedes that it cannot prevail on that claim, CHE and PDP are entitled to summary

judgment on Count 1 and York is entitled to summary judgment on Count 8. 

Count 2: DMCA Violation

The motions addressing Count 2 are PDP’s Motion for Partial Summary

Judgment (#609), joined by CHE (#608) and York (#614), as well as PDP’s and York’s

Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment (#764).  STK acknowledges that the

Federal Circuit’s opinion, which dealt with circumvention in relation to the IPL copy, see

Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1318-19, “impairs, as a practical matter, its ability to

pursue those claims effectively.”  (#757, at 2 n.2.).  Defendants are therefore entitled to

summary judgment on Count 2 insofar as it is based on the IPL copy.  STK is further

“willing to withdraw the remainder of its DMCA claim (i.e., all DMCA claims based on

CHE copying other than the IPL copy), conditioned upon Defendants’ agreement not to



5A party who prevails in an action brought under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(a) may be
entitled to attorneys’ fees under § 1203(b)(5).

6Even if Event Messages are a portion of the copyright-protected 9330 or 9311
Codes, STK must still show that the “particular elements” that the defendant is alleged
to have infringed are copyright-protected.  ILOG, Inc., 181 F. Supp. 2d at 4.
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seek attorney fees.”5  (Id. at 10 (emphasis in original)).  Defendants, however, are

unwilling to concede their right to seek attorneys’ fees.  (#766, at 3; #764, at 7 & n.13). 

I must therefore address their motions.

The complaint alleges that all three defendants “circumvented STK’s

technological measures in order to gain access to all o[r] a portion of the Maintenance

Code,” in violation of 17 U.S.C. § 1201.  (Compl. ¶ 45).  The main thrust of the DMCA

claim has always been that defendants circumvented GetKey in order to create the IPL

copy.  (Id. ¶¶ 44-48).  However, STK now asserts that its DMCA claim was also based

on circumvention of GetKey in order to access and copy (1) RTD Code, and (2) Event

Messages.  (#679, at 4-5).  Even assuming that such DMCA claims are properly in the

case, defendants are still entitled to summary judgment.

In order to prevail on a DMCA claim, STK “must prove that the circumvention of

the technological measure [here, the GetKey] ‘facilitates infringing a right protected by

the Copyright Act.’” Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1318 (internal quotation marks

omitted, emphasis added); see also 17 U.S.C. §§ 1201(a)(1)(A), (a)(2)(A), (b)(1)(A)

(prohibiting circumvention of measures protecting copyright-protected works).  STK

has, however, withdrawn its copyright claim as to Event Messages (#757, at 9) and has

therefore failed to establish that Event Messages are copyright-protected works.6 
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Thus, STK’s claim that defendants circumvented GetKey to access Event Messages

fails because it has not shown that Event Messages are “protected by the Copyright

Act.” See Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1318 (“To the extent that STK’s rights under

copyright law are not at risk, the DMCA does not create a new source of liability.”). 

Insofar as STK asserts circumvention of GetKey in order to copy RTD Code, it

must show that GetKey “effectively” protects or controls access to RTD Code.  For

reasons articulated by the Sixth Circuit in Lexmark Int’l, Inc. v. Static Control

Components, Inc., 387 F.3d 522 (6th Cir. 2004), a decision cited with favor by the

Federal Circuit in this case, see Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1319, STK cannot

prevail.  In that case, the plaintiff Lexmark claimed infringement of its Printer Engine

Program (“PEP”), which was a copyrighted program that controlled the printer’s

operation.  387 F.3d at 530.  Anyone who owned a Lexmark printer could download the

PEP from the printer’s microchip.  However, Lexmark sought to control access to the

PEP, and to printer operation, through use of an “authentication sequence,” which was

satisfied only when Lexmark-approved toner cartridges were used.  Id.  Without a

Lexmark-approved cartridge, the authentication sequence would fail and PEP (and

therefore the printer) would not operate properly.  The defendant  SCC sold a microchip

that performed the authentication sequence, thereby allowing customers to use

Lexmark printers without using Lexmark-approved toner.  Id.  Lexmark sued, claiming

that SCC had circumvented the authentication sequence in violation of the DMCA.  Id.

at 546.  The Sixth Circuit disagreed.  It found that the authentication sequence did not

effectively control access to the PEP within the meaning of the DMCA because
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“[a]nyone who buys a Lexmark printer may read the literal code of the Printer Engine

Program directly from the printer memory, with or without the benefit of the

authentication sequence, . . . after which copies may be freely distributed.”  Id.  Thus,

although the authentication sequence blocked “one form of ‘access,’” it did not block

“another relevant form of ‘access,’” and it therefore did not constitute a “technological

measure” that “effectively” controlled access within the meaning of the DMCA.  Id. at

547.

 In this case, RTD Code, along with the rest of the LMU Code, is contained either

on the hard drive of the LMU or on floppy disks that STK sometimes ships with its

products.  CHE has asserted and STK has not denied that any customer who owns an

STK system can access and copy RTD Code.  Like the Lexmark customers who were

able to copy PEP directly from the printers, STK’s customers can access RTD Code

regardless of the existence of GetKey protection.  STK disputes the relevance of

Lexmark and cites instead Davidson & Assocs. v. Jung, 422 F.3d 630 (8th Cir. 2005). 

(#679, at 6-7).  In Davidson, however, the court found that the technological measure at

issue did effectively control access to the copyrighted work; the copyrighted works

were, unlike the PEP and unlike RTD Code, “not freely available,” even to purchasers

of the product.  Id. at 642.  Davidson is thus inapposite.  Because GetKey does not

effectively control access to RTD Code, circumvention of GetKey to access RTD Code

cannot violate the DMCA.  Therefore, defendants are entitled to summary judgment on

Count 2 and may be entitled to attorneys’ fees under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(5).

Counts 3 and 4: Trade Secret Misappropriation



7FSC Dictionaries contain numeric FSCs and their English translations. 
Technicians use the Dictionaries to translate FSCs generated by the LCU. 
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The relevant motions are (1) CHE’s Supplemental Motion for Summary

Judgment on Counts 3-6 and 10 (#767); and (2) York’s and PDP’s Supplemental

Motion for Summary Judgment (#764).  Counts 3 and 4 of the Third Amended

Complaint allege trade secret misappropriation.  They are identical, except that Count 4

is brought under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (“UTSA”).  (Compl. 17).  Because

Massachusetts has not adopted UTSA, see Diomed, Inc. v. Vascular Solutions, Inc.,

417 F. Supp. 2d 137 n.3 (D. Mass. 2006), and because the parties have cited only

Massachusetts law in relation to STK’s trade secret claim, Count 4 is dismissed and

STK’s trade secret claim is analyzed under Massachusetts trade secret law. 

STK asserts that defendants misappropriated its trade secrets in various “data

and information related to maintenance of [STK] library systems.”  (Compl. ¶¶ 52, 57). 

Specifically, STK alleges that defendants misappropriated its trade secrets in Event

Messages, FSC Dictionaries,7 and diagnostic manuals.  To establish trade secret

misappropriation under Massachusetts law, STK must show (1) that the information in

question is a trade secret, (2) that STK took reasonable steps to preserve the secrecy

of that information, and (3) that defendants used improper means, in breach of a

confidential relationship, to acquire and use the trade secret.  DB Riley, Inc. v. AB

Eng’g Corp., 977 F. Supp. 84, 89 (D. Mass. 1997).  The Federal Circuit rejected STK’s

trade secret claim on two grounds: first, that STK’s Event Messages and FSCs were

publicly circulated before 1992 and therefore were not protectable trade secrets, and
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second, that STK had made “no showing that [CHE’s] activities breached a confidential

relationship.”  Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1320-21.

STK concedes that the Federal Circuit’s decision disposes of its claim with

respect to Event Messages and FSC Dictionaries that existed prior to 1992, known as

the 4400 versions.  (#757, at 8).  However, STK maintains that the Federal Circuit’s

decision did not foreclose its trade secret claim with respect to the later 9300 versions,

which were introduced after 1992 and, importantly, after the institution of GetKey

protection.  As to the 9300 versions, STK argues, the Federal Circuit’s decision is

inapplicable.  On this point, STK is correct.  The record indicates that the 9300 versions

were introduced at the same time or after the introduction of the GetKey protection

mechanism, and that the 9300 versions were different from the 4400 versions.  (#783,

Ex. 9, at 94 (111:20-112:17); id., Ex. 4, ¶¶ 23-25; #790, Ex. 42, ¶ 6).  These changes

sufficiently distinguish the 9300 versions from the 4400 versions to render the Federal

Circuit’s decision inapplicable.  In addition, STK seeks to pursue a trade secret claim

as to its diagnostic manuals, a type of information not considered by the Federal Circuit

at the preliminary injunction stage.  (Id.).  Accordingly, STK’s trade secret claim is not

foreclosed by the Federal Circuit’s decision with respect to the 9300 versions and the

diagnostic manuals.  As to this information, defendants seek summary judgment on the

basis of trade secret status and improper means. 

I. Trade Secret Status

Trade secret status is based on numerous factors, including “(1) the extent to

which the information is known outside of the business; (2) the extent to which it is
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known by employees and others involved in the business; (3) the extent of measures

taken by the employer to guard the secrecy of the information; (4) the value of the

information to the employer and to his competitors; (5) the amount of effort or money

expended by the employer in developing the information; and (6) the ease or difficulty

with which the information could be properly acquired or duplicated by others.”  Jet

Spray Cooler, Inc. v. Crampton, 361 Mass. 835, 840 (1972).  Where the evidence

conflicts, trade secret status is a question of fact properly left to the jury.  See Curtiss-

Wright Corp. v. Edel-Brown Tool & Die, Co., 381 Mass. 1, 6-7 (trade secret status

properly left to jury given conflicting evidence).

Such disputes exist in this case, precluding summary judgment.  In particular,

disputes exist as to the reasonableness of STK’s security precautions, which is a key

factor in trade secret status determination.  E.g., USM Corp. v. Marson Fastener Corp.,

379 Mass. 90, 98 (1979).  Reasonableness itself is determined by looking at multiple

factors, including “the existence or absence of an express agreement restricting

disclosure,” disclosures to employees and the circumstances of such disclosures, and

“the degree to which the information has been placed in the public domain or rendered

‘readily ascertainable’ by the third parties through patent applications or unrestricted

product marketing.”  Id.  The reasonableness determination is fact-specific and

depends largely on the circumstances.  Picker Int’l Corp. v. Imaging Equip. Servs., 931

F. Supp. 18, 23 (D. Mass. 1995).  STK notes that in addition to instituting GetKey

protection, it also (1) required employees to sign confidentiality agreements that

extended beyond an employee’s termination (#790, Ex. 45, ¶¶ 12-15); (2) required
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customers to sign license agreements, which expressly asserted the confidentiality of

STK’s intellectual property and required the customer not to access or use such

materials (#784, Ex. 14, § 4); and (3) required resellers to sign similar agreements

(#790, Ex. 46, §§ 3.6, 6.3).  From these facts, a jury could reasonably conclude that

STK had taken reasonable security precautions to protect the 9300 versions and

diagnostic manuals.  See Picker Int’l Corp., 931 F. Supp. at 35-36 (finding “reasonable

security precautions” where plaintiff had, inter alia, required confidentiality agreements

from employees, customers, and resellers); Harvard Apparatus, Inc. v. Cowen, 139 F.

Supp. 2d 161, 176 (D. Mass. 2001) (same).

CHE notes that STK’s security measures have not been entirely successful.  For

example, STK has on multiple occasions, and as recently as January 2006, left its

machines at an enhanced maintenance level.  (#768, ¶¶ 35-37).  At an enhanced

maintenance level, Event Messages and FSC Dictionaries may be viewed by anyone

who connects a terminal to the LMU.  (Id. ¶ 37; #793, ¶ 37).  By forgetting to disable

Maintenance Code or by failing to do so before CHE took over maintenance, STK has

arguably made the disputed information available to third parties.  The record also

shows that third-party technicians often arrive at sites where machines display FSCs

and STK manuals are readily available.  (#770, Ex. 17, at 427-28).  Thus, to the extent

that STK’s information has been rendered available to unauthorized parties, STK’s

carelessness has played a contributing role.  

Under a reasonableness standard, however, STK’s carelessness does not

entitle defendants to prevail at summary judgment, though it may ultimately militate
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against a finding of trade secret status.  A plaintiff’s security precautions must be

reasonable, but it need not erect “an impenetrable fortress” or take “heroic measures.” 

Picker Int’l Corp., 931 F. Supp. at 23 (internal quotation marks omitted); USM Corp.,

379 Mass. at 101.  STK may have inadvertently disclosed certain information, but the

various nondisclosure agreements into which it entered with customers and employees

could lead a jury to conclude that information was “not placed entirely within the public

domain.”  Harvard Apparatus, Inc., 130 F. Supp. 2d at 176.  In any event, its

conduct—leaving manuals at customer sites, failing to disable Maintenance Code by

setting the maintenance level to zero—falls short of the type of disclosure that has

traditionally been found to destroy trade secret status.  See, e.g., CVD, Inc. v.

Raytheon Co., 769 F.2d 842, (1st Cir. 1985) (information was “well known in the

scientific community” and employees had published papers on the technology in

scientific journals); J.T. Healy & Son, Inc. v. James A. Murphy & So, Inc., 357 Mass.

728, 737-38  (1970) (information “not guarded at all”). 

Defendants raise two other arguments as to trade secret status.  First, they

argue that Event Messages and FSC Dictionaries (“the information”) cannot constitute

trade secrets because they are “raw data about a malfunction on a customer’s

machine.”  (#767, at 13).  But STK has offered evidence indicating that the information

contains not only data about machine malfunctions, but also diagnosis and analysis

(#793, ¶¶ 42-44); such diagnostic material can constitute trade secret.  See, e.g.,

Picker Int’l Corp., 931 F. Supp. at 25.  Indeed, the Federal Circuit expressly found that

“the meaning of the fault symptom codes might have been a trade secret if they had not



8At the preliminary injunction stage, STK was not required either to prove its
case in full or to develop a complete evidentiary record.  See Univ. of Texas v.
Camenisch, 451 U.S. 390, 395 (1981).  Therefore, the Federal Circuit’s factual findings
and legal conclusions are “not binding” at this stage, when the record is more fully
developed.  Id.
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been previously made public.”  Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1320.  Second,

defendants argue that the information is transient and thus not in “continuous use.” 

However, it is unclear whether Massachusetts courts would still apply the continuous-

use requirement.  See Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition § 39, cmt. d.  In any

event, the information is a standardized set of terms that retains the same meanings

over time and is therefore susceptible to “continuous use.”

II. Improper Means

In rejecting STK’s trade secret claim, the Federal Circuit also found that STK had

made “no showing” that CHE had “breached a confidential relationship” in obtaining

and using Event Messages and FSCs.  Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1321.  The court

noted specifically that CHE had “developed the LEM and ELEM devices independently

to diagnose problems in the silos,” in a manner akin to “reverse engineering.”  Id.

(emphasis added).  Because independent development was not an “improper means,”

the court held there could be no misappropriation; defendants argue the same principle

applies here.  On the summary judgment record,8 however, material factual disputes on

this issue remain.  

First, STK has offered evidence indicating that CHE used former STK employees

to obtain STK information in breach of their confidentiality agreements.  For example,

Charles Zagorski, a former STK employee, obtained information for CHE—ostensibly



9Zagorski later revealed that the “secret helper” was not, as he had previously
represented, an African-American woman named “Shelly Gramstaff,” but was instead
himself; he further revealed that he had “personally derived” the information contained
in his emails.  (#790, Ex. 54).
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from a “secret helper” at STK9—that he thought “might solve our problems . . . in getting

error codes [without a] way to interpret them.” (#790, Ex. 47).  Zagorski believed the

information “might give us [CHE] a way to get FSC call outs.”  (Id.).  A reasonable jury

could find that CHE had employed “improper means” in obtaining this information from

Zagorski, a former STK employee, in breach of his confidentiality agreement.  In

addition, STK maintains that CHE was prohibited, under various customer and resale

agreements, from accessing and using Maintenance Code except for purposes of

activating the machines.  (#793, ¶¶ 14-16).  See also Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at

1310.  And yet the record shows that CHE technicians would access Maintenance

Code not only to access the silos, but also to access diagnostic information, which they

were able to do as long as the machines were at an enhanced maintenance level. 

(#790, Ex. 41, at 153-55).  At some point, CHE also downloaded onto its server a 58-

page, FSC Dictionary containing 9300 FSCs and English translations.  (#783, Ex. 4, ¶¶

28-29; id., #784, Ex. 28).  Based on these facts, a jury could reasonably infer that CHE

had obtained the diagnostic information and FSC Dictionary by accessing Maintenance

Code in violation of license and resale agreements.  Obtaining information in violation

of a license agreement may constitute trade secret misappropriation.  See, e.g., Picker

Int’l Corp., 931 F. Supp. at 42.  Accordingly, triable issues of fact persist on the matter

of “improper means.” 



10STK attempts to characterize Count 5 as pleading unfair competition “under the
common law of each state in which CHE has either bid for, or performed service on
[STK machines].”  (#757, at 4).  Count 5, however, has always been limited to a claim
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III. PDP and York

PDP and York also move for summary judgment separately.  Because the record

evidence shows that York corresponded with Zagorski about obtaining STK Code to aid

in deciphering FSCs, his request for summary judgment is denied.  As for PDP, it

argues that it is entitled to summary judgment based on its assignment of interests to

CHE, which it erroneously claims took place in 1992; in fact, PDP did not assign its

interests to CHE until 2002.  (#764, ¶ 5; #780, ¶¶ 4-5).  Accordingly, it is not entitled to

summary judgment on that ground.

IV. Conclusion

Count 4 is dismissed.  Defendants’ motions for summary judgment on Count 3

are denied.

Count 5: Chapter 93A Unfair Competition

The relevant motions are CHE’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#619),

and CHE’s Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment (#767).  Count 5 alleges that

CHE engages in unfair competition when it deceives STK’s former and prospective

customers into believing that CHE’s copying and/or use of the Maintenance Code is

“legal or otherwise approved by, endorsed by, or authorized StorageTek,” and when it

“induce[s] and knowingly benefit[s] from interference with StorageTek’s existing and

prospective business relationships and/or contracts.”  (Compl. ¶¶ 63-64).  Chapter

93A10 prohibits parties from bringing actions under § 11 “unless the actions and



under 93A, as its caption—“Unfair Competition in Violation of Mass. Gen. L. Ch.
93A”—clearly indicates.  (Compl. 18).
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transactions constituting the alleged unfair method of competition or the unfair or

deceptive act or practice occurred primarily and substantially within the

commonwealth.”  Courts applying this requirement “determine whether the center of

gravity of the circumstances that give rise to the claim is primarily and substantially

within the Commonwealth.”  Kuwaiti Danish Computer Co. v. Digital Equip. Corp., 438

Mass. 459, 472 (2003).  CHE disputes that its alleged misconduct occurred “primarily

and substantially” in Massachusetts.

In response, STK points to its allegations concerning the Allmerica Insurance

account.  Allmerica is a former STK customer for whom CHE subsequently provided

maintenance services; it is located in Worcester, Massachusetts.  STK argues that the

Allmerica incident constitutes “a single instance of misconduct” that has “greater

significance for [the] case as a whole than a multiplicity of instances of misconduct in

another jurisdiction.”  Kuwaiti Danish, 438 Mass. at 473.  This assertion is, however,

belied by STK’s own claim, which in essence accuses CHE of deceiving and then

stealing various STK customers.  To the extent that the relevant situs is the location of

the customers, the Allmerica account alone is insufficient to warrant 93A jurisdiction. 

To the extent that the relevant situs is the location of CHE’s planning and

communications, there is no proof that CHE engaged in such planning anywhere

except Colorado and Missouri, where it and York are located.  (#619, ¶¶ 32-34). 

Tellingly, of the forty-seven customers identified by STK’s damages expert in her lost
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profits analysis, only Allmerica is located in Massachusetts.  (#619, Ex. N, at 14). 

Moreover, the lost profits associated with Allmerica amount to less than 2% of STK’s

total damages claim.  (Id.).  STK has simply failed to establish that the alleged

misconduct occurred “primarily and substantially” within the Commonwealth.  See

Straumann Co. v. Lifecore Biomedical Inc., 278 F. Supp. 2d 130, 140 (D. Mass. 2003)

(no 93A jurisdiction where only 2.3% of defendant’s sales occurred in Massachusetts). 

Accordingly, summary judgment on Count 5 is allowed.

Count 6: Tortious Interference with Business Relations

CHE moves for summary judgment on Count 6 (#767), which alleges tortious

interference with business relationships.  The parties argue at length about the scope

of Count 6.  The dispute arises from STK’s recent assertion that CHE tortiously

interfered not only by stealing STK’s maintenance customers, but also by “caus[ing]

many existing and prospective customers to breach their license agreements with

StorageTek.”  (#757, at 7).  Specifically, STK asserts (1) that under the license

agreements, customers are prohibited from accessing or using Maintenance Code

except to activate their machines, and (2) that CHE caused customers to breach their

license agreements by accessing and using Maintenance Code on their behalf, for

purposes other than activation.  Count 6 does not encompass these allegations.  

STK’s tortious interference claim is and has always been about whether CHE

improperly took away STK’s customers; it has never, until now, included a claim that

CHE caused STK customers to breach their license agreements by accessing and

using Maintenance Code on their behalf for non-activation purposes.  In any event, by



11Both parties assume for purposes of summary judgment that Massachusetts
law applies to STK’s tortious interference claim.  (#767, at 19; #792, at 8-9).  CHE,
however, asserts that Missouri law applies to its own tortious interference
counterclaims, since its principal place of business is in Missouri.  (#661, at 4).  STK
contends that CHE’s counterclaim fails under either state’s law.  (#628, at 11 n.6). 
Accordingly, STK’s tortious interference claim is analyzed under Massachusetts law,
while CHE’s tortious interference counterclaim is analyzed under Missouri law.
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the time CHE accessed Maintenance Code on a customer’s behalf, that customer had

presumably already ended its maintenance relationship with STK.  In sum, I agree with

CHE as to the scope of the claim.  Its entitlement to summary judgment, however, is

another matter.

Under Massachusetts law,11 a plaintiff claiming tortious interference must show

“(1) a business relationship or contemplated contract of economic benefit; (2) the

defendant’s knowledge of such relationship; (3) the defendant’s interference with the

relationship through improper motive or means; and, (4) the plaintiff’s loss of advantage

as a direct result of the defendant's conduct.”  Singh v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of

Mass., Inc., 308 F.3d 25, 47 (1st Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted).  CHE

argues that STK has not shown that CHE employed “improper means” to interfere with

STK’s maintenance relationships.  In United Truck Leasing Corp. v. Geltman, 406

Mass. 811, 816 (1990), the Supreme Judicial Court expressly held that a plaintiff was

not required to show malice in a tortious interference case.  Instead, the court defined

“improper means” as conduct that “is wrongful by some measure beyond the fact of

interference itself.”  Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).  Although the court did not

discuss at length what might constitute “improper means,” it did cite the Restatement

(Second) of Torts, § 767, which sets out a seven-factor test for determining whether
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conduct is “improper,” and which defines such conduct as ranging from “physical

violence, fraudulent misrepresentation and threats of illegal conduct,” to “[v]iolation of

recognized ethical codes” and business customs.  Id. cmt. c; see also Ary Jewelers,

LLC v. IBJTC Business Credit Corp., 414 F. Supp. 2d 90, 94 (D. Mass. 2006).

In this case, STK has presented sufficient evidence of “improper means.”  The

record indicates that CHE induced former STK employees to breach their confidentiality

agreements by disclosing information about STK’s intellectual property, which assisted

CHE in developing its diagnostic capabilities.  See discussion of Count 3, supra.  In

addition, STK has submitted evidence that a former STK employee provided CHE with

leads on potential customers.  (#790, Ex. 50).  It is not clear from the record whether

the customers were being serviced at the time by STK, but at least some of the

information about the customers came from relationships the employee formed while at

STK.  (Id. at AAI 047759, AAI 047343).  From this evidence, a reasonable jury could

find that CHE had developed both its diagnostic capabilities and its business contacts

by inducing former STK employees to breach their confidentiality agreements, and thus

that it had interfered with STK’s business relationships through improper means. 

Accordingly, summary judgment is denied. 

Count 7: Conversion

STK has unconditionally withdrawn its conversion claim.  (#757, at 10). 

Accordingly, it is dismissed with prejudice.

Count 9: Patent Infringement
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The relevant motions are (1) PDP’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

(#609); (2) two CHE Motions for Partial Summary Judgment (##616 and 617), joined by

York (#614); and (3) two STK Motions to Dismiss (##338 and 622), concerning CHE’s

assertions of invalidity and noninfringement, which I address first.

I. STK’s Motions to Dismiss (##338 and 622)

In its Second Amended Complaint (#203), STK alleged patent infringement as to

three patents, U.S. Patents 4,908,777, 5,850,569, and 6,550,391 (“’777, ’569, and ’391

patents,” respectively).  In response, CHE filed several counterclaims for invalidity and

noninfringement of the three patents, sham litigation based on improper assertion of

the patents, and patent misuse.  Although STK amended its complaint to remove any

claim as to the ’391 Patent (#253), CHE insisted on pursuing its counterclaims as to all

three patents.  STK has therefore moved to dismiss CHE’s counterclaim for invalidity

and noninfringement (Counterclaim Count 27) insofar as it concerns the ’391 Patent. 

The issue has become moot because CHE now characterizes Counterclaim Count 27

as a defense.  (#760, at 2).  As a defense, it is relevant only to the extent that STK

asserts patent infringement; it does not provide an independent jurisdictional basis for

assessing an unasserted patent.  Since STK no longer asserts infringement of the ’391

Patent, the defense is unnecessary.

A similar issue arises with respect to unasserted claims of the ’569 and ’777

patents, whose validity CHE seeks to undermine.  STK has asserted only Claims 18

and 23 of the ’569 Patent, and Claims 5, 12, 14, and 16 of the ’777 Patent.  Because
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Counterclaim Count 27 is now interposed only as a defense, it is relevant only with

respect to asserted claims.  Accordingly, both motions are denied as moot.

II. The ’569 Patent

Defendants CHE and York move for summary judgment on the ’569 Patent,

claiming invalidity (#617) and non-infringement (#616).  Both issues depend upon

interpretation of the term “simulated LMU.”

Claim construction presents purely legal questions.  See Markman v. Westview

Instruments, Inc., 52 F.3d 967, 978 (Fed. Cir. 1995), aff’d 517 U.S. 370 (1996).  Claim

terms are given their “ordinary and customary meaning,” which is the meaning that a

“person of ordinary skill in the art” would give the term, “not only in the context of the

particular claim in which the disputed term appears, but in the context of the entire

patent, including the specification.”  Phillips v. AWH Corp., 415 F.3d 1303, 1313 (Fed.

Cir. 2005) (en banc).  The court’s primary resource is intrinsic evidence, including the

claim itself, other claims of the patent, “both asserted and unasserted,” the patent’s

specification or written description, and the prosecution history.  Id. at 1314-15.  The

specification may “teach and enable those of skill in the art to make and use the

invention,” but it does not define the scope of the claim terms, and courts therefore

“avoid importing limitations from the specification into the claims.”  Id. at 1321. 

Extrinsic evidence—though “less significant” than intrinsic evidence—may nevertheless

“shed useful light” on a claim term.  Id. at 1317 (internal quotation marks omitted). 

Such evidence may include dictionaries, treatises, and expert testimony.  However,

extrinsic evidence is considered “less reliable” than intrinsic evidence; courts assume it
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is “unlikely to result in a reliable interpretation . . . unless considered in the context of

the intrinsic evidence.”  Id. at 1318-19. 

The Patent describes a method for testing the Library Storage Module (“LSM”)

component of an STK silo system.  The LSM stores data cartridges, which are retrieved

and read by a robotic arm.  Several LSMs are controlled by an LMU, which in turn

receives commands from host computers.  The method is intended to aid STK library

owners when they wish to add additional LSMs to an existing system.  (’569 Patent

1:25-27).  Before a new LSM is added, it must undergo diagnostic testing.  (Id. at 1:39). 

Such testing was previously accomplished after an LSM was assembled and connected

to the library, but it required customers to “shut down . . . operations.”  (Id. at 1:47-48). 

The ’569 Patent reduces this downtime.  Instead of first connecting the new LSM to the

system and thereafter performing diagnostic testing, the patent describes a method for

testing a new LSM “prior to its incorporation into the library.”  (Id. at 2:6-7).  

Such testing is accomplished by means of a “simulated LMU,” a term that

appears in each asserted claim.  The parties offer divergent definitions of the term and

hotly dispute each distinction.  One of these disputes, however, is dispositive as to

infringement.  CHE argues that a simulated LMU must be “capable of being used to

perform diagnostic testing on an LSM . . . before such LSM is ever connected to an

LMU.”  This assertion is supported by the intrinsic record, though the diagnostic testing

is perhaps more accurately described taking place before the LSM is connected to a

library, rather than an LMU.  As STK concedes (#683, at 8-9), unasserted Claims 1 and

8 of the ’569 Patent both specify that diagnostic testing be conducted via a simulated
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LMU before the LSM is connected to a library.  (’569 Patent, 5:58, 6:37-39).  Because

Claims 1 and 8 therefore use the term “simulated LMU” to refer to a device that is

capable of conducting diagnostic testing before the LSM is attached to a library, and

because claim terms are “normally used consistently throughout the patent,” Phillips,

415 F.3d at 1314, the same definition applies to the asserted claims.  That the purpose

of the simulated LMU is to perform such prior testing is further apparent from the rest of

the patent.  (’569 Patent, Abstract (simulated LMU “test[s] the new LSM prior to its

incorporation into the library”); Summary, 2:4-7 (same)).  I therefore conclude that term

“simulated LMU” refers to a device capable of being used to perform diagnostic testing

on an LSM before the LSM is connected to a library.

Having construed the disputed claim term, I now consider “whether the properly

construed claim encompasses the accused structure.”  See Bai v. L&L Wings, Inc., 160

F.3d 1350, 1353 (Fed. Cir. 1998).  CHE argues that neither LEM or ELEM is a

simulated LMU, specifically because neither LEM nor ELEM is capable of performing

diagnostic testing on an LSM before the LSM is connected to a library.  STK apparently

agrees.  (#681, at 4 (noting that LEM and ELEM are two devices that do not have this

capability)).  If both LEM and ELEM lack this required capability, then neither can be a

simulated LMU under the court’s construction.  Defendants are thus entitled to

summary judgment on the ’569 Patent on the basis of non-infringement, and it is

therefore unnecessary to determine invalidity.
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III. The ’777 Patent

STK’s tape libraries require the use of a robotic arm that retrieves the

appropriate tape cartridge when it is needed.  The libraries depend upon the accurate

positioning and movement of the robot arms.  The ’777 Patent claims a method for

calibrating a robot arm to ensure accuracy.  STK has asserted infringement of

independent Claims 5 and 12, as well as dependent Claims 14 and 16.  CHE moves for

summary judgment on grounds of non-infringement (#616). 

A. Implied License

CHE first claims patent exhaustion and implied license, confusingly equating the

two doctrines.  (#616, at 9).  They are, however, distinguishable.  Under the doctrine of

first sale, or patent exhaustion, a patentee abandons its statutory right to exclusivity

through the unrestricted sale or license of the patent.  See Hewlett-Packard Co. v.

Repeat-O-Type Stencil, 123 F.3d 1445, 1451 (Fed. Cir. 1997).  By contrast, an implied

license exists where no such unrestricted sale or license has necessarily been given,

but where nevertheless “the patentee may, through its own conduct, grant an implied

license to practice the patent to certain downstream purchasers.”  LG Elecs., Inc. v.

Asustek Computer, Inc., No. 01-00326, 2002 WL 31996860, at *3 (N.D. Cal. 2002).  

To the extent that CHE claims patent exhaustion, the doctrine is inapplicable in

this case.  The articles sold in this case were STK’s libraries, which are “merely

embodiments” of the patent at issue.  Glass Equipment Dev., Inc. v. Besten, Inc., 174

F.3d 1337, 1341 n.1 (Fed. Cir. 1999).  (#616, ¶ 46-47).  The asserted claims, however,

are method claims.  Therefore, the first sale doctrine is inapplicable.  See id. (doctrine



34

inapplicable where sale concerned equipment but claim involved patented method of

using equipment); see also Bandag, Inc. v. Al Bolser’s Tire Stores, Inc., 750 F.2d 903,

924 (Fed. Cir. 1984).  

Insofar as CHE claims an implied license, it has failed to meet its burden.  See

Bandag, Inc., 750 F.2d at 924 (burden of proving implied license falls on defendant).  A

defendant seeking to show an implied license must demonstrate (1) that the equipment

at issue has no non-infringing uses, and (2) that the patentee’s conduct clearly

supports the finding of an implied license. Id. at 924-25 (internal quotation marks

omitted).  As to this latter factor, “[a] mere sale does not import a license except where

the circumstances plainly indicate that the grant of a license should be inferred.”  Id. at

925.  Moreover, an inquiry into the circumstances of the sale is necessarily fact-

intensive, though the existence of an implied license is ultimately a question of law, see

Met-Coil Sys. Corp. v. Korners Unlimited, Inc., 803 F.2d 684, 687 (Fed. Cir. 1986).

STK’s storage systems are commercial embodiments of the ’777 Patent.  (#682,

¶ 46).  CHE argues that by selling the systems, STK has granted its customers an

implied license to use the systems and, therefore, to practice the robotic calibration

operations covered by the ’777 Patent.  CHE’s argument fails for multiple reasons.  As

an initial matter, CHE contradicts itself; to prove the existence of an implied license,

CHE must show that there are no non-infringing uses of the STK equipment; and yet

CHE itself argues that its own use of STK’s equipment is non-infringing.  See Lifescan,

Inc. v. Polymer Tech. Int’l Corp., No. 94-672R, 1995 WL 271599, at *8 (W.D. Wa.

1995).  Second, because CHE is both the summary judgment movant and the party
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bearing the ultimate burden of proof, it is entitled to prevail only by producing

“conclusive” evidence, which “establish[es] beyond peradventure all of the essential

elements of the claim or defense to warrant judgment in [its] favor.”  Vargas v.

Cummings, 149 F.3d 29, 35-36 (1st Cir. 1998) (internal quotation marks omitted,

emphasis in original).  CHE, however, has failed to offer any evidence, let alone

conclusive evidence, on the issue of non-infringing uses.  In addition, the

circumstances in this case do not “plainly indicate that the grant of a license should be

inferred.”  Met-Coil Sys. Corp., 803 F.2d at 686.  On the contrary, STK expressly

declined to license certain aspects of its technology and software to its customers. 

See, e.g., Storage Tech. II, 421 F.3d at 1310.  In light of these clear restrictions, CHE’s

assertion of an implied license is unwarranted. 

B. Infringement

CHE’s non-infringement argument focuses on the claim term “independent

calibration operations,” which appears in all of the asserted claims.  Claim 5 describes

a “method of calibrating” a robot arm, including the step of “storing a sequence of

independent calibration operations, with each sequential calibration operation having a

greater positional accuracy than the preceding operation.”  (’777 Patent, 11:8-13). 

Similarly, independent Claim 12 and dependent Claims 14 and 16 describe “a method

of calibrating” an end effectuator upon a robot arm by, inter alia, “storing a hierarchical

sequence of independent calibration operations.”  (Id. 12:21-25).  CHE argues that

STK’s equipment itself does not engage in “independent calibration operations” and

therefore CHE’s use of the equipment cannot infringe the asserted claims. 
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1. Claim Construction

As explained above, claim construction is a matter of law, claims are generally

given their ordinary and customary meaning, and intrinsic evidence is generally given

greater weight than extrinsic evidence.  The central dispute here concerns the word

“independent.”  CHE argues that “independent” must mean “not dependent,” “not

reliant,” or “not determined by.”  (#616, at 15).  It argues that STK’s equipment does not

conduct “independent calibration operations” because it “must perform the calibration

operations in a particular order”; the operations are not “independent” because the

“operations that have greater positional accuracy rely on and are influenced by the

calibration operations of lesser positional accuracy.”  (Id. at 16).  This interpretation of

“independent” is inconsistent with the ’777 Patent, not least because it would exclude

the preferred embodiment (STK’s libraries) from the scope of the claims.  An

interpretation of a claim term that excludes the preferred embodiment is “rarely, if ever,

correct” and requires “highly persuasive evidentiary support,” which CHE has failed to

offer.  Vitronics Corp. v. Conceptronic, Inc., 90 F.3d 1576, 1583 (Fed. Cir. 1996).  

The patented invention is described at the outset as a “hierarchical calibration

arrangement,” which is “used to provide ever-increasing levels of accuracy in

positioning a robot arm end effectuator.”  (’777 Patent, Abstract).  Thus, from the

beginning, the patented calibration operation is envisioned in relational terms, as the

words “hierarchy” and “sequence” indicate.  The Specification also repeatedly

describes the invention as a hierarchical arrangement, consisting of a sequence

providing increasing levels of accuracy.  (E.g., id. at 1:8-10, 1:45-50, 3:20-25).  Finally,
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the asserted claims themselves describe functions that occur in relationship to other

functions.  For example, Claim 5 describes independent calibration operations that

occur in a “sequence,” and further specifies that within the sequence, “each sequential

calibration operation ha[s] a greater positional accuracy than the preceding operation.” 

(Id. at 11:10-14).  Similarly, Claim 12 refers to a “hierarchical sequence of independent

calibration operations.”  (Id. at 12:24-25).  The intrinsic record therefore supports an

interpretation of “independent calibration operations” that does not require the

operations to be unrelated.  Phillips, 415 F.3d at 1313 (claim terms should be

construed in context of particular claim and of entire patent).  I therefore find that

“independent calibration operations” are calibration operations that are separate from

one another but are not necessarily unrelated. 

2. Analysis

CHE’s assertion of non-infringement is premised entirely upon its proposed

claim construction, which I have rejected.  Specifically, CHE argues that because STK’s

equipment performs calibration operations “in a particular order,” in which later

calibration operations “have greater positional accuracy” and “rely on and are

influenced by the [earlier] calibration operations,” they cannot be independent.  As

explained above, the term “independent calibration operations” does not exclude

operations that are related, as long as the operations are performed separately. 

Because CHE raises no other grounds for finding non-infringement, its motion for

summary judgment is denied.



12STK has withdrawn its claims of direct and contributory infringement, but
continues to pursue its claim of inducement of infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 
(#679, at 16 n.17).  PDP insists upon and is entitled to judgment on the withdrawn
claims.  (#730, at 13).  In addition, PDP is entitled to summary judgment on all claims
as to the ’569 Patent, for the same reasons that CHE is entitled to summary judgment.
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IV. PDP’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#609)

PDP separately moves for summary judgment on Count IX.  STK originally

alleged direct and indirect patent infringement by PDP as to both the ’569 and ’777

Patents, but its only remaining claim is active inducement of infringement by PDP as to

the ’777 Patent.12  PDP now argues that STK has no evidence that PDP possessed the

requisite intent.  The parties hotly dispute precisely what level of intent STK is required

to establish, and the source of their disagreement is Federal Circuit case law.  In

several cases, the Federal Circuit has applied a specific intent requirement, which

requires the plaintiff to show that the defendant “the alleged infringer’s actions induced

infringing acts and that he knew or should have known his actions would induce actual

infringements.”  Manville Sales Corp. v. Paramount Sys., Inc., 917 F.2d 544, 553 (Fed.

Cir. 1990); accord Ferguson Beauregard/Logic Controls, Div. of Dover Resources, Inc.

v. Mega Sys., LLC, 350 F.3d 1327, 1341-42 (Fed. Cir. 2003); Warner-Lambert Co. v.

Apotex Corp., 316 F.3d 1348, 1363 (Fed. Cir. 2003); Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co. v.

Chemque, Inc., 303 F.3d 1294, 1304-05 (Fed. Cir. 2002).  In a parallel line of cases,

however, the Federal Circuit has required something less.  Beginning with Hewlett-

Packard Co. v. Bausch & Lomb, Inc., 909 F.2d 1464, 1469 1468-69 (Fed. Cir. 1990),

which was decided in the same year as Manville Sales, the Federal Circuit has
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sometimes held that only “intent to cause the acts which constitute infringement” is

required.  See Metabolite Labs., Inc. v. Lab. Corp. of Am. Holdings, 370 F.3d 1354,

1365 (Fed. Cir. 2004), cert. dismissed as improvidently granted sub nom. Lab. Corp. of

Am. Holdings v. Metabolite Labs., Inc., No. 04-607, — S. Ct. —, 2006 WL 1699360

(June 22, 2006); Moba, B.V. v. Diamond Automation, Inc., 325 F.3d 1306, 1318 (Fed.

Cir. 2003).  Thus, in some instances, the Federal Circuit has applied the Manville Sales

specific intent standard, while in other cases, it has applied Hewlett-Packard’s less

stringent standard.  Indeed, the court has expressly recognized the conflict among its

precedents.  See Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co., 303 F.3d at 1305. 

Given the unsettled state of the law, I look to recent Federal Circuit precedent. 

In its most recent case discussing inducement of infringement, the court ruled that a

defendant could be held liable for inducement even where the defendant claimed there

was “no evidence that it knew that these sales would result in actual infringement.” 

nCube Corp. v. Seachange Int’l, Inc., 436 F.3d 1317, 1324 (Fed. Cir. 2006).  The court

cited the Hewlett-Packard intent standard and stated that in a case of indirect

infringement, a plaintiff need show “at least that the alleged inducer had knowledge of

the infringing acts.”  Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).  To the extent that this

decision represents the Federal Circuit’s current stance on the intent question, it

suggests that the Hewlett-Packard standard applies.  

PDP has presented no argument that STK cannot meet this standard.  Its

summary judgment motion is premised entirely upon its argument that STK must show

that PDP had knowledge of the ’777 Patent or specifically intended to induce its



13STK has also belatedly attempted to assert a claim under § 1125(a)(1)(A) for
false designation of origin.  (#757, at 5; #686).  However, Count 10 alleges false
advertising only under § 1125(a)(1)(B) and nowhere mentions false designation of
origin.  (Compl. ¶¶ 91-92).  None of the paragraphs cited by STK assert such a claim,
even if broadly construed.  (#792, at 14 (citing Compl. ¶¶ 24, 25, 31, 66, 77)).  In other
words, STK is yet again attempting to insert new claims into the case. 
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infringement.  The fact that PDP’s principals did not learn of the patent until suit was

filed is not necessarily dispositive, since the Federal Circuit has previously found that a

defendant may be liable for inducement of infringement in precisely such

circumstances.  See Biotec Biologische Naturverpackungen GmbH & Co. KG v.

Biocorp, Inc., 249 F.3d 1341, 1351, 1355 (Fed. Cir. 2001).  PDP presents no reasons

why it is entitled to summary judgment under the Hewlett-Packard standard, instead

assuming that the specific intent standard applies.  For that reason and because the

question of intent is “particularly within the province of the trier of fact,” Metabolite

Labs., Inc., 370 F.3d at 1365 (internal quotation marks omitted), the motion is denied.

Count 10: False Advertising

The relevant motions are CHE’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#619)

and its Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment (#767).  Count 10 alleges false

advertising in violation of § 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B).13 

Under that section, STK must show, inter alia, that CHE “made a false or misleading

description of fact or representation of fact in a commercial advertisement about [its]

own or another’s product.”  Cashmere & Camel Hair Mfrs. Inst. v. Saks Fifth Ave., 284

F.3d 302, 310-11 (1st Cir. 2002).  However, a “crucial” limitation exists: the statute

“prohibits misrepresentations only in ‘commercial advertising or promotions.’”  Podiatrist



14STK claims that the Seventh Circuit has disagreed, but it is clear that the
Seventh Circuit, although it has expressed doubts about administering a judicially-
developed test, likewise recognizes the need to distinguish “between varieties of
commercial speech.”  First Health Group Corp., 269 F.3d at 803.  
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Ass’n, Inc. v. La Cruz Azul de Puerto Rico, Inc., 332 F.3d 6, 19 (1st Cir. 2003) (quoting

15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B)); see also First Health Group Corp. v. BCE Emergis Corp.,

269 F.3d 800 (7th Cir. 2001) (commercial advertising “an essential ingredient”).  Courts

apply a multi-part test14 to determine whether speech falls within the “specific forms of

communication” targeted by the Lanham Act.  Podiatrist Ass’n, Inc., 332 F.3d at 19.   It

“must at a bare minimum target a class or category of purchasers or potential

purchasers, not merely particular individuals.”  Id.  The Act “covers more than classic

advertising campaigns,” Podiatrist Ass’n, Inc., 332 F.3d at 20, including “more informal

types of ‘promotion,’” but speech nevertheless “must be disseminated sufficiently to the

relevant purchasing public to constitute ‘advertising’ or ‘promotion’ within that industry.” 

Seven-Up Co. v. Coca-Cola Co., 86 F.3d 1379, 1384 (5th Cir. 1996).

The ten documents that STK disclosed to CHE as the basis for its false

advertising claim consist of (1) five emails or letters from a CHE marketing employee to

a particular customer or individual, (2) internal CHE communications, and (3) CHE’s

Capabilities Statements.  First, the five emails or letters are more akin to the “isolated,

individual statements of opinion by a single sales representative to a single customer,”

Seven-Up Co., 86 F.3d at 1386, than they are to an “organized campaign to penetrate

the relevant market.”  Fashion Boutique of Short Hills, Inc. v. Fendi USA, Inc., 314 F.3d

48, 57 (2d Cir. 2002).  Second, STK has offered no admissible evidence suggesting
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that the Capabilities Statements were “disseminated . . . to the relevant purchasing

public,” while CHE has offered proof that in fact they were only disseminated to

“specific individuals in response to a direct request.”  (#619, Ex. A).  Finally, CHE’s

internal communications clearly do not constitute advertising or promotion. 

STK argues that its proof of false advertising is far more extensive than the ten

documents referenced by CHE.  But STK apparently chose not to disclose any of these

documents to CHE, either in its initial response to CHE’s interrogatories, nor in its

supplemental response, nor at any time following a final request by CHE in May 2005. 

STK offers no satisfactory explanation for this failure.  It notes that it informed CHE that

its interrogatory was “unduly burdensome and premature.”  But even if the request was

premature when first rendered, that condition was presumably resolved by the time

CHE supplemented its request in May 2005.  And in light of the fact that STK has

identified numerous documents it says are relevant to its false advertising claim, CHE’s

request does not seem in fact to have been “unduly burdensome.”  In the absence of

any other compelling justification for its failure to identify and disclose to CHE the

documents upon which it now relies, STK may not refer to them for summary judgment

purposes.  Because STK cannot establish that CHE made false representations in

“commercial advertising or promotion,” summary judgment on Count 10 is allowed.

Motions Concerning CHE’s Counterclaim

Counts 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10: Section 1 of the Sherman Act

The relevant motions are STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#626), CHE’s

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#618), and STK’s Motion to Strike CHE’s Expert
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Testimony and Reports (#630).  Counterclaim Counts 3 and 4 assert that STK illegally

tied its parts to service, in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act; Count 3 alleges a

per se violation, while Count 4 alleges a violation under the rule of reason.  Similarly,

Counts 5 and 6 allege illegal tying of functional microcode to service; Counts 7 and 8

allege illegal tying of maintenance microcode to service; and Counts 9 and 10 allege

illegal tying of engineering changes to service.  STK moves for summary judgment on

Counts 3 through 10, and CHE cross-moves for summary judgment on Counts 5, 7, and

9.  

I. Standing: Antitrust Injury

Federal law confers standing on private citizens who suffer injury “by reason of

anything forbidden in the antitrust laws.”  The class of persons who possess “antitrust

standing” has been limited by the courts.  Sullivan v. Tagliabue, 25 F.3d 43, 45 (1st Cir.

1994).  The Supreme Court has identified several factors that courts must weigh in

determining whether antitrust standing exists.  See Associated Gen. Contractors of Cal.

Inc. v. California State Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 537-45 (1983).  One factor

is antitrust injury, which is “injury of the type the antitrust laws were intended to prevent

and that flows from that which makes defendants’ acts unlawful.”  Brunswick Corp. V.

Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977).  Antitrust injury is a “central factor

in the standing calculus,” and its absence “weighs heavily against a grant of standing.” 

Sullivan, 25 F.3d at 47 & n.9.  STK argues that it is entitled to summary judgment

because CHE is unable to show the requisite injury.  
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However, CHE has presented evidence that it and other independent service

organizations (“ISOs”) suffered injury flowing from STK’s allegedly anticompetitive

conduct.  Specifically, the record indicates that CHE experienced significant growth

prior to 2003.  CHE entered the private sector market in 2001, and during the spring

and summer of 2002, CHE was awarded several significant accounts, including GE

Capital, AT&T, and Boeing.  (#671, ¶¶ 27-31).  The record further indicates that at

some point in late 2002 or early 2003, STK changed several of its policies and that

these changes affected ISOs and their ability to provide proper service.  (#700, Ex. 39,

at 25; #703, Ex. 154, at 222-27).  These policies contributed to one ISO’s decision to

exit the service market (#700, Ex. 39, at 25), and caused a measurable decline in

CHE’s STK-related revenues.  (#704, Ex. 168).  Such evidence supports an inference

that STK’s allegedly anticompetitive conduct caused injury to CHE.

STK of course disagrees with CHE’s calculations and has filed a motion to strike

the reports and testimony of CHE’s damages expert, Dr. Vincent O’Brien, or for a

Daubert hearing in the alternative.  Under Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals,

Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 592-93 (1993), courts conduct a “preliminary assessment of whether

the reasoning or methodology underlying the [proposed expert] testimony is

scientifically valid and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be

applied to the facts in issue.”  However, “[t]he focus . . . must be solely on principles

and methodology, not on the conclusions that they generate,” and courts should not be 

“overly pessimistic about the capabilities of the jury,” since “[v]igorous cross

examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of
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proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible

evidence.”  Id. at 595-96.  In light of these principles, the motion is denied.

As an initial matter, the “before and after” analysis and regression conducted by

Dr. O’Brien are accepted methodologies for demonstrating antitrust lost profits. 

Cambridge Plating Co. v. Napco, Inc., 85 F.3d 752, 772 (1st Cir. 1996) (internal

quotation marks omitted); accord Conwood Co., L.P. v. U.S. Tobacco Co., 290 F.3d

768, 793 (6th Cir. 2002) (before-and-after and regression analyses are “generally

accepted methods for proving antitrust damages”).  To the extent that STK attacks the

specificity or Dr. O’Brien’s opinions, and, in particular, his failure to look solely at

customer-specific data, its arguments are rejected.  Lost profits generally need not be

proved with “mathematical exactness,” but rather with a reasonable degree of certainty. 

Cambridge Plating Co., 85 F.3d at 771.  In antitrust cases, lost profits may have a

lesser degree of certainty than in other arenas, since market uncertainties “usually

deny us sure knowledge of what plaintiff’s situation would have been in the absence of

the defendant’s antitrust violation.”  Hasbrouck v. Texaco, Inc., 842 F.2d 1034, 1044

(9th Cir. 1987) (internal quotation marks omitted).  To the extent that STK’s expert, Dr.

Sharon Oster, criticizes the growth rates or timeline employed by Dr. O’Brien, such

questions are more properly decided by the jury, to whom STK may present its theory

of damages through presentation of its own expert testimony and evidence, as well as

through cross-examination.  Thus, while aspects of Dr. O’Brien’s analysis certainly

appear to be “shaky,” the methodologies he employs are valid, and his opinions

therefore reach the threshold of admissibility.  The motion to strike is denied.



15Although STK’s microcode is sometimes treated as a “part,” the parties here
confine “parts” to non-microcode items.
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II. Substantial Amount of Commerce

STK next argues that it is entitled to summary judgment because CHE has failed

to establish that any alleged tying foreclosed a substantial amount of commerce.  The

amount of commerce foreclosed must be “not insubstantial,” or “merely de minimis.” 

Fortner Enters., Inc. v. U.S. Steel Corp., 394 U.S. 495, 501 (1969) (internal quotation

marks omitted).  The “relevant figure is the total volume of sales tied by the sales policy

under challenge, not the portion of this total accounted for by the particular plaintiff who

brings suit.”  Id. at 502. There can be no real dispute that in this case, the amount of

sales in the tied product—STK maintenance service—is not insubstantial.  STK’s

revenues for service of its tape libraries well exceeds $100 million annually.  (#700, Ex.

10). 

III. Parts: Counterclaim Counts 3 and 4

In these counts, CHE alleges that STK ties the sales of its parts to its service.15 

Section 1 of the Sherman Act prohibits “[e]very contract, combination in the form of

trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the several

States.”  15 U.S.C. § 1.  When a seller ties the sale of one product to the purchase of a

second product, “thereby avoid[ing] competition on the merits of the ‘tied’ product,” he

may violate Section 1.  Data General v. Grumman Sys. Support Corp., 36 F.3d 1147,

1178 (1st Cir. 1994).  CHE has asserted all of its tying claims under both the per se and
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rule-of-reason theories; in recent years, these theories have essentially merged,

rendering separate analysis unnecessary.  See Lee v. Life Ins. Co. of North Am., 23

F.3d 14, 15 (1st Cir. 1994); see also PSI Repair Servs., Inc. v. Honeywell, Inc., 104

F.3d 811, 815-16 (6th Cir. 1997).  To make out a tying claim, an antitrust plaintiff must

establish that 

(1) the tying and tied products are actually two distinct products; (2) there is an
agreement or condition, express or implied, that establishes a tie; (3) the entity
accused of tying has sufficient economic power in the market for the tying
product to distort consumers’ choices with respect to the tied product; and (4)
the tie forecloses a substantial amount of commerce in the market for the tied
product.

Id. at 1178-79.  STK has moved for summary judgment on Counts 3 and 4 on numerous

grounds.  Its principal argument is that STK parts are available from numerous sources

other than STK, disproving both STK’s market power and the existence of a tie.  

“Proof of a tying arrangement generally requires evidence that the supplier’s

sale of the tying product is conditioned upon the unwilling purchase of the tied product

from the supplier or an unwilling promise not to purchase the tied product from any

other supplier.”  Data General, 36 F.3d at 1180.  Where no explicit tying arrangement

exists, a plaintiff may establish the existence of a tie by showing “that the supplier has

actually coerced the purchase or non-purchase of another product.”  Id.  “Whether the

condition is explicit or implicit,” however, courts “will not consider the anti-competitive

effects of a tie to be unreasonable per se unless there is evidence that the supplier of

the tying product has actually used its market power to impose the condition.”  Id.  
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Here, CHE has failed to raise a triable issue of fact as to the existence of a tie. 

No explicit tie exists, and CHE has adduced no evidence that STK “actually coerced”

customers into purchasing its services by leveraging its economic power in the parts

market.  Ample record evidence shows that customers are able to obtain STK

replacement parts from numerous non-STK sources, including CHE itself, without

having to purchase STK maintenance service.  Such sources include ISOs, authorized

distributors, resellers, brokers, used equipment that may be salvaged for parts, and

internet auction sites.  (#632, ¶ 42).  CHE’s service business itself proves that

customers may obtain STK parts without having to purchase STK service; instead, they

may purchase both from CHE.  Indeed, CHE’s own materials tell customers that

“[o]utside of STK themselves [sic], CHE probably has the largest inventory of STK parts

in the industry.”  (#634, Ex. 32). 

CHE responds that STK has often disparaged used replacement parts; CHE

does not argue that used parts should be excluded from the replacement parts market,

but instead complains that it is unfair for STK, in the context of a tying analysis, to rely

upon the availability of used parts that it previously characterized as inferior.  The

record shows, however, that in the relevant market for STK replacement parts, new and

refurbished parts are treated interchangeably.  Both CHE and STK rely on used parts

to maintain STK equipment.  (#738, Exs. 2-6).  STK does not distinguish between used

and new parts (id., Ex. 7), and CHE’s expert recognized that “used and/or refurbished

parts” may “serve as commercially acceptable substitutes for new parts,” that such

parts are available from non-STK sources, and that STK therefore faces a “limited
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degree of competition” in the replacement parts market.  (#704, Ex. 170, ¶15; #702, Ex.

106, ¶ 206).  

CHE next points to various STK actions—STK’s buy-back program, its refusal to

sell parts directly, the higher prices it charges its authorized distributors, and its

packaging of parts—that it claims support a tying claim.  But none of these allegations

proves the existence of a tie.  CHE offers no proof that STK has recaptured a

significant share of the replacement parts market through its buy-back program. 

Indeed, it was CHE and other ISOs who first began salvaging used equipment; STK,

which also has difficulty sourcing some replacement parts, and which observed the

potential cost savings, followed their lead.  (#633, Ex. 6, at 767-70; #634, Ex. 30, at

29).  To the extent that STK marks up parts sold to authorized distributors or bundles

parts, rather than selling them individually, CHE has offered no evidence that these

actions force customers to obtain parts from STK in conjunction with a service

agreement; instead, the evidence indicates that customers may turn to resellers,

brokers, or used machines as alternative sources of supply.  

Viewing the record in the light most favorable to CHE, it shows unequivocally

that STK replacement parts are available from non-STK sources and that CHE

therefore cannot prove the existence of a tie.  STK is therefore entitled to summary

judgment on Counts 3 and 4.

IV. Functional Microcode: Counterclaim Counts 5 and 6

CHE’s counterclaim alleges tying of both Functional Microcode (Counts 5 and 6)

and Engineering Changes (Counts 9 and 10) to STK maintenance service.  CHE
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concedes it has no tying claim with respect to Functional Microcode that is initially

provided to customers when they purchase an STK library.  (#667, at 5; #670, ¶ 52). 

To the extent that CHE alleges tying of Functional Microcode updates, it concedes that

this claim “overlaps” with its claim as to Engineering Changes, which it defines as

“upgrades, updates, and [engineering changes].”  (#618, at 1 n.2).  Accordingly, STK is

entitled to summary judgment on Counts 5 and 6 insofar as they are based on

originally-installed Functional Microcode.  To the extent that Counts 5 and 6 are based

on updates, upgrades, or engineering changes, those claims are merged with Counts 9

and 10 and are addressed in Section VI, infra.

V. Maintenance Code: Counterclaim Counts 7 and 8

The parties have cross-moved for summary judgment on Counts 7 and 8 of

CHE’s Counterclaim, which allege an illegal tie between STK’s Maintenance Code and

its maintenance service.  Although this claim was rejected at the preliminary injunction

stage, Storage Tech. I, 2004 WL 1497688, at *5, the parties’ arguments require

additional analysis upon the summary judgment record.  See Univ. of Texas v.

Camenisch, 451 U.S. 390, 395 (1981). 

STK moves for summary judgment first on the ground that Maintenance Code

and maintenance service are not separate products. To establish the existence of two

distinct products, CHE must first identify the products at issue and then demonstrate

sufficient demand for the tied product separate from the tying product, such that it is

“efficient” to offer the two products separately.  Data General, 36 F.3d at 1179. 

Maintenance service (the “tied” product) is the provision of maintenance and repair



51

services to customers who own STK silos.  Maintenance Code, which CHE alleges is

the “tying” product, “consists of the portions of the [computer] program [i.e., microcode]

that diagnose malfunctions and maintain performance of [STK silos].”  Storage Tech. II,

421 F.3d at 1310.  STK does not sell Maintenance Code, nor does it license

Maintenance Code to its own maintenance customers; it does, however, license

Maintenance Code to customers pursuant to its Customer Self-Maintenance (“CSM”)

program, under which customers can self-maintain or hire an ISO for maintenance

service, while receiving certain service materials.  (#737, at 8, ¶ 21).   

The record contains evidence that Maintenance Code is a product separate from

maintenance service.  As CHE points out, the existence of the Customer Self

Maintenance (“CSM”) program itself indicates that some customers choose not to

obtain maintenance service from STK, but still seek access to STK Maintenance Code. 

(#696, ¶ 7).  Cf. Data General, 36 F.3d at 1179-80 (finding two separate products

where some customers wished to license diagnostic software from the seller without

purchasing support services from the seller); Bell Atlantic Bus. Sys. Servs., Inc. v.

Hitachi Data Sys, Corp., 1995 WL 798935, at *7 (N.D. Cal. 1995) (citing Data General

and noting that not “all products used in the course of service are inseparable from

service”).  Accordingly, summary judgment on this ground is denied.

STK also argues that no tie can exist because STK does not sell its Maintenance

Code; if it does not sell the tying product, it cannot have conditioned the sale of the

tying product upon the sale of the tied product.  Courts have previously agreed with this

reasoning.  See id. (seller did not tie service maintenance to service items it refused to
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sell).  And this was the basis upon which I rejected CHE’s tying claim at the preliminary

injunction stage.  Storage Tech. I, 2004 WL 1497688, at *5.  But the summary judgment

record reveals that STK does license its Maintenance Code, pursuant to the CSM

program.  (#737, at 8, ¶ 21).  Such licensing constitutes a “commercial transfer”

sufficient to allow CHE to argue the existence of a tie.  See Bell Atlantic, 1995 WL

798935, at *7.

Whether or not such a tie exists presents a thornier question, but one that is

ultimately answered in the negative.  STK does not sell or license Maintenance Code to

its maintenance customers.  With respect to its maintenance customers, therefore, no

tie between the two products exists.  STK does license Maintenance Code to its CSM

customers, but those customers—by definition—do not purchase STK maintenance

services; they self-maintain or hire ISOs.  Cf. Service & Training, Inc. v. Data General

Corp., 963 F.2d 680, 686 (4th Cir. 1992).  Therefore, no tie exists with respect to CSM

customers.  In short, STK has structured its service offerings in a manner that prevents

customers from ever purchasing or licensing both the tied and tying product at the

same time:  Under an STK maintenance agreement, customers purchase the tied

product, but not the tying product; under a CSM agreement, customers license the tying

product, but not the tied product.  In the absence of any evidence of a tie, STK is

entitled to summary judgment on Counts 7 and 8.

VI. Engineering Changes/Functional Code Upgrades: Counterclaim Counts 9 and
10



16For reasons that will later become apparent, it is significant that STK does not
argue—as it does in relation to Maintenance Code—that it cannot be liable for any
alleged tie involving engineering changes or upgrades, because upgrades are
copyrighted material.  (Compare #643, at 14, with id. at 15).
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The parties cross-move for summary judgment on these counts as well, which,

as explained above, have been merged with Counts 5 and 6 to cover upgrades,

updates, and engineering changes.  STK argues it is entitled to summary judgment

because CHE cannot establish either the existence of a tie or that any alleged tie would

foreclose a substantial amount of commerce.16  Because material factual disputes

persist as to both of these issues, summary judgment is denied. 

A. Existence of a Tie

STK contends that it provides engineering changes, or Functional Code

upgrades (“upgrades”), to customers through a variety of means—primarily on a “time

and materials” basis and through the CSM program—without requiring that they

purchase STK maintenance service.  It maintains that such upgrade availability defeats

the existence of a tie.  In support of its claim, STK cites the deposition testimony of

CHE’s Vice President, CHE customers, STK employees, and STK’s written policies.  

However, material factual disputes on this point remain.  First, it is not entirely

clear that STK made upgrades available on a “time and materials” basis.  The record

contains evidence that STK emphatically told customers that upgrades were only

available through STK maintenance agreements or CSM agreements.  (E.g., #700, Ex.

40; #702, Ex. 120, at 203).  Such evidence includes statements of STK employee David

Jesuale, who was in charge of upgrade policy and to whom STK employees and
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customers turned for clarification; Jesuale repeatedly and unequivocally emphasized

that upgrades were only available through STK maintenance or CSM.  (#700, Ex. 34;

#702, Ex. 81).  Cf. Datagate, Inc. v. Hewlett-Packard Co., 60 F.3d 1421, 1426 (9th Cir.

1995) (triable issue remained on tying claim where HP threatened to withhold software

service if customer purchased hardware service from ISO, that software service was

necessary, and that ISO prices were lower than HP’s prices).  As for the specific

instances upon which STK claims it provided engineering changes on a “time and

materials” basis, CHE has presented evidence that these occasions were anomalies

concerning newly installed tape drives, not routine upgrades.  (#701, Ex. 44, at 504).

Furthermore, record evidence indicates that in late 2002 or early 2003, shortly

after CHE entered the market for servicing private sector STK equipment, STK

implemented changes that were intended to make the CSM program expensive and

unattractive to customers, and thereby to dissuade customers from choosing ISO

service over STK service.  (#701, Ex. 58-59, 62, 64-65).  STK imposed a fee equal to

fifty percent of the fee charged for its most expensive level of maintenance service. 

(Id., Ex. 60).  The record indicates that both ISOs and customers viewed the fee as

prohibitively expensive.  (Id., Exs. 66, 68-69).  Moreover, CSM customers were entitled

only to a one-time upgrade; additional upgrades were available only if customers paid

the fee again.  (Id., Ex. 58).  From this evidence, a reasonable jury could conclude that

purchasing upgrades through the CSM program was not an economically viable option

and that a tie therefore did exist.  See Amerinet, Inc. v. Xerox Corp., 972 F.2d 1483,

1500 (8th Cir. 1992) (illegal tie may be shown “if the defendant’s policy makes the
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purchasing of the tying and tied products together the only viable economic option”

(internal quotation marks omitted)); Data General, 36 F.3d at 1180 (implicit tie exists

where “facts and circumstances . . . as a practical matter forced the buyer into

purchasing the tied product” with the tying product (internal quotation marks omitted)).   

Because this evidence raises material disputes as to microcode availability, summary

judgment on basis of lack of a tie is inappropriate.  

B. Substantial Amount of Commerce

Any alleged tie must foreclose a “not insubstantial” amount of commerce to be

actionable under Section 1.  Fortner Enters., 394 U.S. at 501.  As noted above, if STK

does indeed tie upgrades to service, the total volume of sales of maintenance service

for STK equipment exceeds $100 million, which is sufficient to satisfy the requirement. 

STK, however, additionally argues that upgrades are not needed or generally desired

by STK silo owners and thus any alleged tie does not foreclose a substantial amount of

commerce.  In other words, STK argues that upgrades are not really necessary for or

related to the service of STK equipment and thus, even if it did condition the sale of

upgrades on the purchase of service, it would not foreclose a substantial enough

portion of the service market.  

On this point, the record is mixed.  STK has presented evidence that upgrades

are necessary only “to make some new piece of hardware function,” and that there are

no other circumstances in which customers need a code upgrade.  (#697, at 431).  It

has further presented evidence that upgrades generally are not necessary for mature

silo systems, such as the 4400 and 9300 series, and that CHE did not believe such
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upgrades would be needed in the future.  (#696, ¶ 51).  To the extent that upgrades are

generally not needed by silo owners for maintenance purposes and have “no diagnostic

or repair function,” but are needed only to upgrade hardware, its availability may be

relevant only in the product market, but not in the service aftermarket.  See Telecom

Tech. Servs., Inc. v. Rolm Co., 388 F.3d 820, 828 (11th Cir. 2004).  CHE has, however,

presented evidence that upgrades are required for maintaining silo performance, and

that it was required to obtain upgrades while servicing STK machines.  (#647, Ex. 39, at

76; #700, Ex. 37, at 138).  Because factual disputes therefore exist as to the link

between upgrades and the service market, I reject STK’s argument that a substantial

amount of commerce in the service market cannot be foreclosed by conditioning sales

of upgrades on service.

C. Market Power

STK has also filed a supplement (#765) in which it claims that the Supreme

Court’s recent decision in Illinois Tool Works Inc. v. Independent Ink, 126 S. Ct. 1281

(2006), defeats CHE’s tying claims.  Illinois Tool Works held (1) that in all cases

involving a tying arrangement, the plaintiff must prove that the defendant has market

power in the tying product, and (2) that no presumption of market power attaches to

patent owners.  Id. at 1293.  Summary judgment under Illinois Tool Works is denied,

since a jury could reasonably conclude that STK—as the sole producer of

upgrades—possesses market power.  

D. Conclusion



17CHE has withdrawn Count 17, which alleged violation of state antitrust laws. 
(#760, at 2).
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Because STK has raised no other reason why it is entitled to summary judgment

on Counts 9 and 10, its motion is denied.  CHE’s summary judgment motion is denied

on the basis of the evidence proffered by STK tending to show that upgrades may have

been available to customers on a “time and materials” basis, and that any alleged tie of

upgrades to service may not have foreclosed a substantial amount of commerce in the

service market because upgrades are not widely necessary to silo owners.

Counts 1, 2, 13, and 15: Section 2 of the Sherman Act

The relevant motion is STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#627).  Counts 1,

2, 13, and 15 of CHE’s counterclaim allege violations of Section 2 of the Sherman Act,

15 U.S.C. § 2.17  Counts 1 and 2 allege monopolization and attempt to monopolize the

market for maintenance service of STK machines.  Count 13 alleges monopolization of

an essential facility, specifically STK’s Functional and Maintenance Code.  Count 15

alleges monopolization, based on refusal to deal in microcode.  

To prove a Section 2 violation, CHE must establish (1) “that the defendant has

monopoly power in a relevant market,” and (2) that the defendant has maintained or

increased that power through anticompetitive conduct.  SMS Sys. Maintenance Servs.,

Inc. v. Digital Equip. Corp., 188 F.3d 11, 15 (1st Cir. 1999).  With respect to attempted

monopolization, the analysis is similar, Davric Maine Corp. v. Rancourt, 216 F.3d 143,

149-50 (1st Cir. 2000), except that the plaintiff must show a “dangerous probability” that
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the defendant will achieve monopoly power, Spectrum Sports, Inc. v. McQuillan, 506

U.S. 447, 456 (1993). 

I. Monopoly Power: Relevant Market

The parties vigorously dispute the monopoly power question and, specifically,

the definition of the relevant market.  STK argues that the relevant market is the market

for data storage equipment (“the primary market”) and that it does not possess

monopoly power in that market.  CHE contends that the relevant market is the STK

service market, which it defines as the market “for the maintenance and repair of STK

Silo Systems in the United States,” and which is also referred to as the “aftermarket.” 

(Counterclaim ¶¶ 17, 117). 

As an initial matter, I disagree with STK’s argument that a single-brand

aftermarket must be rejected out of hand.  As the Supreme Court recognized in

Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Tech. Servs., 504 U.S. 451, 481-82 (1992), a service

aftermarket may be the relevant market for Section 2 purposes.  An aftermarket is by

definition a single-brand market.  See id. at 482 (from equipment owner’s perspective,

aftermarket is “composed of only those companies that service [STK] machines”). 

Whether or not the aftermarket is the relevant market thus requires analysis under

Kodak and its progeny; the answer cannot be based simply upon single-brand status.

In Kodak, the Supreme Court recognized that a competitive primary equipment

market might not adequately protect against anticompetitive conduct in the aftermarket.

In that case, a group of ISOs that serviced Kodak copiers alleged that Kodak had

monopolized the aftermarket.  Kodak argued that competition in the primary equipment
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market necessarily checked anticompetitive conduct in the aftermarket, since higher

service prices in the aftermarket would cause customers to switch brands in the primary

market.  Id. at 466.  The Supreme Court disagreed.  It found that high information costs

prevented customers from comprehending the cost of services they would eventually

need at the time they purchased copying equipment.  Id. at 472-73.  Furthermore, high

switching costs could inhibit consumers from changing brands even if Kodak were

charging supracompetitive prices in the aftermarket.  Id. at 476-77.  These factors could

insulate the aftermarket from competitive pressure in the foremarket.  

Kodak does not, however, mean that the aftermarket is always the relevant

market.  As the First Circuit emphasized in SMS, “a litigant who envisions the

aftermarket as the relevant market must advance hard evidence dissociating the

competitive situation in the aftermarket from activities occurring in the primary market.” 

188 F.3d at 17.  In that case, the First Circuit placed the burden on the plaintiff to bring

forth “evidence show[ing] that the manufacturer can exert raw power in the aftermarket

without regard for commercial consequences in the foremarket,” without which the court

declined to deem the aftermarket the relevant market.  Id.  STK argues that CHE has

failed to provide such evidence, but material factual disputes exist.  

First, supracompetitive pricing in the aftermarket can indicate that the

aftermarket is insulated from competition in the foremarket.  See Kodak, 504 U.S. at

477; SMS, 188 F.3d at 24.  CHE has presented evidence that when STK discounted its

prices by seventy percent, it was still able to maintain a nearly twenty percent profit

margin.  (#700, Ex. 11, at 1336).  A jury could reasonably infer from this evidence that
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STK’s usual prices were supracompetitive, thus distinguishing this case from SMS,

where the “record [wa]s devoid of any evidence of supracompetitive prices.”  188 F.3d

at 24.  STK disputes that it engaged in supracompetitive pricing, citing an internal STK

document that instructed employees to “[f]ollow[] standard pricing practices,” to

“negotiate an acceptable pricing scheme” with customers, to be “flexible in pricing,” and

even to consider “[o]ffering to meet CHE pricing.”  (#703, Ex. 138).  STK provides no

proof that these suggested strategies were followed, but in any event, none of them are

necessarily inconsistent with supracompetitive pricing.  Supracompetitive prices need

not be unilateral or fixed and thus could be consistent with negotiations and flexible

pricing.  STK also argues that its prices were higher because its services were better. 

Yet the record contains evidence that CHE’s customers thought that it provided high

quality, “excellent” service.  (E.g., id., #700, Ex. 6, at 237; id., Ex. 14, at 502501).  Thus,

the degree to which STK’s supracompetitive prices may be attributed to relative quality

remains an issue of dispute.  

Second, courts also tend to scrutinize retroactive policy changes, since they may

indicate a manufacturer’s power to engage in anticompetitive conduct in the aftermarket

without regard to competition in the foremarket.  For example, in Kodak, the defendant

had retroactively changed its policy regarding its parts.  504 U.S. at 458.  This change

increased the lack of transparency suffered by consumers who had purchased the

equipment without comprehending the service options that would be available to them,

or the full life cycle costs of their equipment.  In other words, retroactive policy changes

can indicate that customers in the “primary market [may not be] in possession of
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information that sufficiently reveals the anticompetitive tendencies of a manufacturer in

its aftermarket.”  SMS, 188 F.3d at 19 n.3.  This concern was not present in SMS,

where the disputed warranty was entirely prospective and was therefore “obvious to

any purchaser in the primary market.”  Id. at 19.  

CHE alleges that STK implemented a number of retroactive changes, including

(1) increasing the price and changing the terms of the CSM, which effectively

discouraged customers from choosing ISOs; and (2) changing its Licensed Internal

Code (“LIC”) process, through which ISOs obtained STK microcode upgrades. 

Because upgrades are necessary for proper maintenance, these restrictions negatively

impacted CHE’s ability to provide maintenance service.  Sufficient record evidence

supports these allegations.  

STK denies that it actually implemented changes to the CSM program, but the

record contains STK documents referring to major policy changes in the program. 

(E.g., #701, Exs. 58, 59 (referring to “a major face lift” in CSM program and “new CSM

program”)).  Indeed, STK’s assertion that its pricing policies remained the same are

directly contradicted by STK correspondence that “highlights” certain “changes to the

[CSM] program,” including pricing changes.  (Id., Ex. 59).  STK’s contention that these

“changes” were not actually changes, but were merely express statements of previously

implicit policies, is entirely unconvincing.  Similarly, record evidence shows that STK

changed the LIC process to make it harder for CHE and other ISOs to obtain microcode

updates.  Correspondence and testimony of an employee of Fujitsu, another ISO,

indicates that until the fall of 2003, STK provided upgrades through its LIC process to
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customers being serviced by ISOs for a $50 fee.  (#701, Ex. 46; id., Ex. 47, at 97-98). 

At some point in the fall of 2003, however, STK altered the LIC order process, thereby

preventing ISOs like CHE and Fujitsu from obtaining updates.  (Id. at 104).  

STK does not dispute that it changed the LIC process, but instead argues that

upgrades were not necessarily required for maintaining STK silos.  This contention is

belied by the record, which portrays a dispute between Fujitsu and STK about

microcode update availability for Exxon Mobil, an STK customer whose silos were

being serviced by Fujitsu.  See also Section 1 discussion of engineering changes,

supra.  When STK refused to provide the necessary updates, Fujitsu was unable to

provide the requisite service, which placed its relationship with Exxon under significant

pressure.  Eventually, STK provided the needed microcode, but only after Fujitsu

agreed to turn over maintenance on the Exxon account to STK.  (Id. at 105-06).  The

urgent need that Exxon and Fujitsu expressed in the fall of 2003 for a functional code

upgrade undermines STK’s efforts to minimize upgrade importance.  (E.g., id. at 113;

see also #700, Ex. 37, at 138).  STK also objects to CHE’s characterization of the

Fujitsu-Exxon incident; but while the Exxon incident was not “the only reason” for

Fujitsu’s decision to exit the service industry, it was “certainly a factor.”  (#701, Ex. 47,

at 319).  In short, CHE has presented evidence from which a reasonable jury could

conclude that STK implemented changes to its LIC process that materially impacted the

ability of ISOs to obtain upgrades and thus to compete in the service aftermarket. 

Market definition is a factual question.  Coastal Fuels of P.R., Inc. v. Carribean

Petroleum Corp., 79 F.3d 182, 196 (1st Cir. 1996).  In this case, evidence of
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supracompetitive pricing and retroactive policy changes raises the possibility that

competition in the foremarket may not have provided a sufficient check on

anticompetitive conduct in the aftermarket.  A reasonable jury might conclude from this

evidence that this case falls more within the ambit of Kodak rather than SMS, and that

the relevant market is properly defined as the service aftermarket rather than the

equipment foremarket.  Accordingly, the issue of monopoly power remains in dispute.

II. Anticompetitive Conduct

To make out a Section 2 claim, CHE must also prove that STK engaged in

“improper exclusionary conduct.”  SMS, 188 F.3d at 25.  STK moves for summary

judgment on this element, arguing that CHE cannot raise a triable issue of fact as to

anticompetitive conduct.  CHE’s asserts numerous types of anticompetitive conduct.  

(Counterclaim ¶ 100; #668, at 5).  Because a triable issue of fact persists as to at least

one alleged type, summary judgment is denied.

A number of CHE’s allegations concern STK’s refusal to provide access to its

microcode.  CHE asserts that STK has violated Section 2 by (1) tying the availability of

microcode to its maintenance service, in part through changes to the CSM program; (2)

eliminating ISO access to microcode through authorized parts distributors; and (3)

eliminating ISO access to microcode through the LIC Order Form process.  (#688, at 5,

23).  These allegations form a partial basis for Counterclaim Counts 1 and 2, and are

the sole basis for Counts 13 and 15.  

As a general matter, unilateral conduct by a monopolist may be exclusionary

under Section 2, and a monopolist’s unilateral refusal to deal with its competitors may
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be prima facie evidence of exclusionary conduct as long as the refusal harms the

competitive process.  Data General, 36 F.3d at 1182-83.  A monopolist may, however,

“rebut such evidence by establishing a valid business justification for its conduct.”  Id.

at 1183.  Relying on Data General, STK argues that its refusal to provide microcode is

justified because its microcode is copyrighted.  In that case, the First Circuit dealt with

the tension between an intellectual property owner’s right to exclude others from its

property, and the potentially anticompetitive effect of unilateral refusal to deal.  After

analyzing the historical relationship between the intellectual property laws and antitrust

liability, the First Circuit held that “while exclusionary conduct can include a

monopolist’s unilateral refusal to license a copyright, an author’s desire to exclude

others from use of its copyrighted work is a presumptively valid business justification for

any immediate harm to consumers.”  Id. at 1187.  The presumption may be rebutted,

but only in “rare cases.”  Id. at 1187 n.64.  

Under Data General, STK argues that its refusal to provide access to

copyrighted microcode cannot form the basis of Section 2 liability, and it is correct with

respect to Maintenance Code and Functional Code.  CHE argues that STK is not

entitled to the Data General presumption, but it has failed to present evidence that this

is one of those cases “in which imposing antitrust liability is unlikely to frustrate the

objectives of the Copyright Act.”  Id.  CHE has presented no evidence, for example, that

STK’s copyright was unlawfully acquired.  Cf. id. at 1186 (noting that patent exception

to antitrust laws does not apply where patent unlawfully acquired); In re Independent

Service Organizations Antitrust Litig. CSU, L.L.C. (“In re CSU”), 203 F.3d 1322, 1329
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(Fed. Cir. 2000) (following Data General and noting that “in the absence of any

evidence that the copyrights were obtained by unlawful means,” defendant’s refusal to

sell or license copyrighted works was lawful).  CHE notes that the Federal Circuit has

indicated that the presumption may be overcome with evidence of an illegal tie.  See id.

at 1327.  But I have already rejected CHE’s tying claims with respect to Maintenance

Code and Functional Code.  CHE is, in short, unable to win the “uphill battle” that the

Data General presumption creates.  Accordingly, STK’s motion for summary judgment

is granted insofar as CHE’s Section 2 claims are based upon STK’s refusal to license

or provide access to Maintenance Code and Functional Code.

Engineering changes, or upgrades, are another matter.  First, the copyright

status of engineering changes is unclear.  STK has repeatedly asserted—with respect

to both Sections 1 and 2—that Maintenance Code and Functional Code, or microcode,

is copyrighted.  Thus, it expressly disputes Section 1 liability with respect to

Maintenance Code on the basis of its copyright.  (#643, at 13; #735, at 8).  But its

Section 1 briefs never raise a copyright argument with respect to upgrades or

engineering changes.  Similarly, in its response to CHE’s Section 1 motion, STK raises

a copyright defense only for Maintenance Code, but mentions no such defense in

relation to upgrades.  (#689, at 20).  Instead, STK’s Section 1 defense for upgrades is

throughout based upon (1) the availability of upgrades, and (2) the lack of market

foreclosure.  With respect to CHE’s Section 2 claims, the same is true.  Its papers do

not mention the copyright status of engineering changes or upgrades.  
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STK documents provide little clarification.  For example, CP-8-5-3 is an STK

document that describes how customers who are not under an STK service agreement

will be treated, specifically, what access they will be given to STK’s “support services,

spare parts, tools and engineering changes.”  (#647, Ex. 33, at STK 242716).  The

document emphasizes the proprietary status of “Maintenance software,” stating that it is

“the sole property” of STK and that it may be licensed under the CSM program.  (Id. at

STK 242717).  It likewise emphasizes the proprietary status of “Licensed internal code,”

which it notes is copyrighted.  (Id.).  No proprietary language is used, however, in

describing engineering changes.  While STK’s silence does not mean that engineering

changes and code upgrades are not copyrighted, I am hesitant to automatically

conclude that they are, especially since STK has repeatedly emphasized the copyright

status of Maintenance Code.  It is certainly possible that STK has not copyrighted

engineering changes, while it has copyrighted its microcode.  In Bell Atlantic, the

defendant Hitachi also produced storage systems.  1995 WL 798935, at *1.  It

copyrighted its maintenance documentation and diagnostic software, but did not

copyright its microcode or engineering change notices.  Id. at *1, 7.  In the absence of

any affirmative evidence that STK’s upgrades and engineering changes are

copyrighted, I am disinclined to apply the Data General presumption at this stage of the

case.

Even assuming that upgrades are copyrighted, it is still not clear that the Data

General presumption applies.  The presumption, after all, is not irrebuttable.  See 36

F.3d at 1187 n.64 (expressly declining to adopt irrebuttable presumption).  As



18As a general matter, an illegal tie can be evidence of exclusionary conduct
under Section 2.  Heatransfer Corp. v. Volkswagenwerk, A.G., 553 F.2d 964, 981 (5th
Cir. 1977).  
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mentioned earlier, the First Circuit explicitly noted that unilateral refusals to deal in

copyrighted material could constitute exclusionary conduct in some circumstances. The

Federal Circuit has further elaborated that a copyright holder cannot use its lawful right

to exclude “with impunity to extend power in the marketplace beyond what Congress

intended.”  In re CSU, 203 F.3d at 1328.  Courts have enunciated few principles

elucidating the boundary between lawful and unlawful conduct.  But, as CHE points out,

at least one court has found that the Data General presumption may not apply where

there is an “indication of illegal tying.”  Id. at 1327.  As explained above, CHE has

presented evidence supporting a claim of illegal tying between upgrades and service. 

This evidence is therefore relevant not only because it precludes summary judgment on

CHE’s tying claim, but also because it raises the possibility that STK extended its

statutory power beyond the permissible boundary established by its copyright and

thereby relinquished its entitlement to the Data General presumption.18  

To be sure, tension in the case law exists.  The Federal Circuit has found that

evidence of an illegal tie may rebut the Data General presumption.  Therefore, if STK

illegally tied upgrades to service, it may have exceeded the scope of any copyright it

possesses with respect to upgrades.  On the other hand, some courts have held that

the right to exclude from copyrighted or patented parts or software that are necessary

for service may include within its scope the right to exclude from the service
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aftermarket.  See, e.g., Telecomm Tech. Servs., Inc. v. Siemens Rolm Comms., Inc.,

150 F. Supp. 2d 1365, 1369 (N.D. Ga. 2000), aff’d on different grounds, 388 F.3d 820

(11th Cir. 2004) (“[A]s a matter of law the statutory scope of a patent extends beyond

the original equipment market into the service market where service requires use of

patented parts.”).  Nevertheless, at this stage in the litigation, I am unwilling to

eliminate the possibility that an illegal tie between upgrades and service, if proved,

might also be relevant to the validity of STK’s business justification, by virtue of its

copyright, for engaging in otherwise exclusionary conduct in the service market.  At

trial, STK may well disprove the existence of any tie between upgrades and service and

thereby foreclose this line of argument.  But CHE’s proffered evidence is sufficient to

avoid summary judgment. 

Accordingly, summary judgment on Counts 1, 2, 13, and 15 is denied, except to

the extent that such counts are based upon STK’s refusal to license or provide access

to microcode, summary judgment is allowed.  STK’s additional arguments under Counts

13 and 15 concerning the trade-secret status of Event Messages are therefore moot,

since Event Messages are part of Maintenance Code.  In light of these rulings, I need

not consider CHE’s lengthy catalogue of other anti-competitive conduct.

Counts 18, 21, 23, and 25: Unfair Competition and Tort Claims



19These motions also address Counts 22, 26, and 28, which have either been
dismissed or withdrawn.  (#760, at 2).

20See also note 11, supra.
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STK moves for summary judgment on Counts 18, 21, and 23 of CHE’s

Counterclaim (#625), and, somewhat repetitively, for summary judgment on Counts 23

and 25 (#624).19 

I. Counts 18 and 23: Unfair Competition

Count 18 alleges unfair competition based upon harm to competition in the

service market.  (Counterclaim ¶¶ 212-17).  Count 23 alleges common law unfair

competition, “under the common law and statutes of the various states where STK and

CHE have business relationships including the common law and statutes of Missouri

and Massachusetts.”  (Id. ¶ 246).  They are based upon STK’s allegedly “false,

deceptive or misleading and unfair descriptions of fact and/or misleading or deceptive

representations of fact in connection with the sale of its goods and/or services about

CHE and its services.”  (Id. ¶ 247).  STK challenges the sufficiency of CHE’s claims on

several grounds.

A preliminary matter concerns choice of law.  CHE contends that Missouri law

governs.  STK apparently believes that Massachusetts law applies, but, more

importantly, believes that choice of law is irrelevant “because the outcome . . . is the

same regardless of choice of law.”  (#732, at 2).  I will therefore apply Missouri law.20  In

Fred Wehrenberg Circuit of Theatres, Inc. v. Moviefone, Inc., 73 F. Supp. 2d 1044,

1047-48 (E.D. Mo. 1999), the federal court thoroughly canvassed the history of
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Missouri’s common law of unfair competition and found that “[i]n Missouri, common law

unfair competition encompasse[s] several categories of legal claims, including palming

or passing off, trademark violations, and misappropriation.”  Count 18, which alleges

unfair competition based upon “monopolistic anticompetitive activity,” does not fall

within these categories.  Notably, Missouri is not one of the states to have adopted

Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition § 1, which ostensibly extends common law

unfair competition to include antitrust violations.  Indeed, to the extent that Missouri

courts have considered the relationship between antitrust violations and common law

unfair competition, they have declined to rule that the former may be actionable as the

latter.  For example, in Essex v. Getty Oil Co., 661 S.W.2d 544, 555 (Mo. App. 1983),

the court found that a claim concerning anticompetitive price discrimination did not fall

within the scope of common law unfair competition.  While recognizing that “any

scheme that misappropriates the property of another may lie within the protection of the

doctrine,” the court found that conduct that allegedly “limit[ed] trade or competition” did

not.  Id. at 554-55.  Accordingly, STK is entitled to summary judgment on Count 18,

which claims common law unfair competition based upon harm to competition.

Count 23 alleges common law unfair competition based upon “false, deceptive

or misleading and unfair descriptions . . . and/or . . . representations of fact . . . about

CHE and its services.”  (Counterclaim ¶ 247).  CHE has asserted that STK made many

deceptive or unfair statements about it to customers, but has not alleged facts falling

within the scope of common law unfair competition in Missouri.  Deceptive statements

are actionable under Missouri law when they are intended to “trade on another’s
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reputation,” or misappropriates the property of another while using his own name.  CHE

has not accused STK of trading on CHE’s reputation, either by palming off STK goods

as CHE property, or by misappropriating CHE property and associating it with STK’s

name.  Perhaps recognizing this weakness, CHE now claims that STK misappropriated

CHE’s proprietary tools, namely, LEM and ELEM, and that such misappropriation

constitutes unfair competition.  (#661, at 5).  This claim is completely different from

what was pled in Count 23, and in any event is insufficient.  Even if STK

misappropriated CHE’s property, such misappropriation—while it might theoretically

support a trade secret claim—would not constitute common law unfair competition,

unless STK passed that property off as its own.  Accordingly, STK is entitled to

summary judgment on Count 23 as well.

II. Counts 21 and 25: Tortious Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage
and with Contract

“Tortious interference with a contract or business expectancy requires proof of:

(1) a contract or valid business expectancy; (2) defendant’s knowledge of the contract

or relationship; (3) a breach induced or caused by defendant’s intentional interference;

(4) absence of justification; and (5) damages.”  Hensen v. Truman Medical Center, Inc.,

62 S.W.3d 549, 553 (Mo. App. 2001).  CHE cites five examples where STK allegedly

interfered with a contract or valid business expectancy.  STK challenges the sufficiency

of the evidence in each case.

A. El Paso
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CHE had a maintenance agreement with El Paso Corporation and claims that

STK tortiously interfered with that contract by (1) sending threatening letters about the

preliminary injunction, which was at that time in place, (2) threatening to bring litigation

against El Paso litigation, and (3) unreasonably delaying its provision of microcode,

thereby causing CHE to fall into disfavor of El Paso.  CHE’s allegations, however, lack

support.

First, CHE has offered no evidence that any allegedly tortious conduct caused El

Paso to terminate its relationship with CHE.  CHE cites the deposition testimony of

Richard Rutkoski, the IBM liaison, but Rutkoski actually testified that he did not know

why El Paso terminated its CHE relationship.  He specifically denied knowing whether

the preliminary injunction contributed to El Paso’s decision and even expressed doubt

that its decision was based on lack of microcode availability through CHE.  (#734, Ex.

42, at 411-13).  CHE also cites the testimony of Chris Carrier, a CHE employee, who

states that he heard from someone at IBM, who heard from someone at El Paso, that

STK had threatened El Paso with litigation.  (#703, Ex. 151, at 75).  This statement,

which concerns at least two levels of hearsay, is inadmissible insofar as it is offered for

the purpose of proving that STK actually made such statements to El Paso.  Noviello v.

City of Boston, 398 F.3d 76, 85 (1st Cir. 2005).  In the absence of any evidence of a

causal link between STK’s conduct and El Paso’s termination of its CHE contract, STK

is entitled to summary judgment.

B. AT&T
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CHE claims that STK harmed a prospective business relationship with AT&T by

delaying its provision of microcode.  AT&T was a customer serviced by CHE, as a

subcontractor for IBM.  CHE has proffered evidence, primarily the testimony of Patti

Summey, the IBM liaison, that STK refused to provide microcode to either IBM or CHE,

and as a result, IBM decided to move the AT&T account back to STK for service. 

(#646, Ex. 13, at 185).  STK counters with evidence that microcode was available to

AT&T directly and that IBM was aware of this option.  (#734, Exs. 41-42, 50-51).  There

is no evidence that AT&T ever made a direct request, and the IBM employees who

handled the issue were unaware of such a request.  (Id., Exs. 50-51).  It is thus entirely

possible that AT&T never received the necessary microcode because STK never

received a request it was willing to honor.  In any event, there is no evidence that STK

would have refused to provide the microcode to AT&T, even knowing it was under a

CHE agreement, had AT&T made a request.  CHE cannot sustain a tortious

interference claim where it lacks affirmative evidence that STK refused altogether to

provide microcode to AT&T.   

C. Bureau of Public Debt (“BPD”)

STK argues that CHE cannot argue tortious interference with its BDP account

because CHE never lost that account.  CHE concedes that it “managed to hang on to

the BDP account,” but complains that it suffered “considerable damages,” in the

amount of $38,000, because it had to buy tape units that STK would not provide. 

(#661, at 15; #662, ¶¶ 160-62).  In the absence of any evidence that BDP breached its

agreement with CHE as a result of STK’s conduct, or that CHE lost the economic
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advantage of a relationship with BDP, these allegations cannot support a tortious

interference claim.

D. American Express

CHE contends that STK tortiously interfered with its American Express account

by informing American Express of the preliminary injunction then in effect.  The email in

question describes this court’s preliminary injunction decision and includes certain

quoted language.  It further encourages customers to ascertain the legality of CHE’s

maintenance practices and to “avoid participating” in any infringement, “to avoid any

liability on the part of your company.”  (#703, Ex. 160).  This email cannot be the basis

of tort liability.  Under the Noerr-Pennington doctrine, “acts incidental to protected

litigation—acts that are ‘reasonably and normally attendant upon protected

litigation’—are entitled to immunity to the same extent as the related litigation.” 

Matsushita Elecs. Corp. v. Loral Corp., 974 F. Supp. 345, 359 (S.D.N.Y. 1997).  Such

acts include “sending letters threatening court action.”  Id.  As the Fifth Circuit has

noted, “[t]he litigator should not be protected only when he strikes without warning.” 

Coastal States Marketing, Inc. v. Hunt, 694 F.2d 1358, 1367 (5th Cir. 1983).  Indeed,

“[i]f litigation is in good faith, a token of that sincerity is a warning that it will be

commenced and a possible effort to compromise the dispute.”  Id.  Therefore, in the
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absence of any evidence that STK has engaged in sham litigation,21 Noerr-Pennington

immunity protects STK from liability on the basis of this communication.

E. Allmerica and Huntington National Bank

Finally, CHE asserts that STK interfered with its contracts with Allmerica and

Huntington National Bank by disconnecting ELEM at those sites and by disparaging

CHE.  Even if STK did so, CHE has failed to adduce any evidence that such conduct

caused either Allmerica or Huntington to end their relationships with CHE.  On the

contrary, the record contains a letter stating that Allmerica decided to terminate its CHE

relationship because it “believe[d] that it is in Allmerica’s best interest long term to have

our equipment serviced by the original manufacturer.”  (#734, Ex. 45).  CHE has

presented no evidence indicating that Allmerica’s decision was based on either the

temporary disconnection of ELEM, or any disparaging comments STK allegedly made

about CHE. Indeed, Allmerica’s letter expressly states that “CHE’s performance over

the past two years has been satisfactory,” that the relationship has been “positive,” and

that CHE consultants have been “responsive, professional and flexible.”  (Id.).  As for

Huntington, CHE has similarly presented no evidence as to the reasons for its decision. 

When asked whether the ELEM disconnection had anything to do with Huntington’s

decision to terminate, David York himself stated that he “would be speculating as to—if

that was part of the process or not.”  (#703, Ex. 152, at 217-18).  In addition, here—as
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with the El Paso account—the only evidence of STK making disparaging comments are

vague, hearsay statements offered by Christopher Carrier.  Such evidence cannot

support a tortious interference claim.

F. Conclusion

CHE has not supported its allegations as to these five incidents, and has

proffered no other evidence to make out a tortious interference claim.  Accordingly,

STK is entitled to summary judgment on Counts 21 and 25 of CHE’s counterclaim.

Other Motions

#461: STK’s Motion to Strike

STK has moved to strike the expert opinions of David York, or in the alternative

to compel their production.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(B) requires that an expert report be

produced “with respect to a witness who is retained or specially employed to provide

expert testimony in the case or whose duties as an employee of the party regularly

involve giving expert testimony.”  There is no dispute that York’s duties as an employee

of CHE do not include regularly giving testimony.  STK, however, contends that York,

who will unquestionably be testifying as a fact witness, may also be considered an

expert “retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony.”  As the cases cited

by STK explain, to require employee experts to provide written reports “is entirely

consistent with the spirit of [the Rule],” since it “will undoubtedly serve to minimize the

elements of surprise.”  3M v. Signtech USA, 177 F.R.D. 459, 461 (D. Minn. 1998);

accord Kw Plastics v. U.S. Can Co., 199 F.R.D. 687, 690 (N.D. Ala. 2000).  To the
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extent that York will be testifying as a traditional expert, in matters involving scientific,

technical, or specialized knowledge, STK is entitled to a report disclosing his opinions.

CHE notes that the cases cited by STK are distinguishable, since in those

cases, the court found that the witnesses should be subject to expert disclosure

requirements in part because the witnesses were not hybrid witnesses.  However, the

principles underlying both these cases as well as the disclosure rules are clearly

applicable here.  Testimony that is expert testimony should not “evade the expert

witness disclosure requirements set forth in Fed. R. Civ. P. 26,” simply because the

testimony is proffered through a fact witness.  Fed. R. Evid.701, Advisory Committee

note (2000).  Indeed, the Advisory Committee has emphasized that the key distinction

in managing expert testimony is not between expert and lay witnesses, “but rather

between expert and lay testimony.”  Id.  Thus, “any part of a witness’ testimony that is

based upon scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge . . . is governed by . . .

the corresponding disclosure requirements of the Civil . . . Rules.”  Id.  CHE also

argues that STK cannot be unaware of York’s opinions because they have already

extensively deposed him and have clearly scoured that testimony in preparing its

various motions.  I am inclined to agree that the risk of unfair surprise is relatively low

in this case, given STK’s considerable familiarity with Mr. York.  Nevertheless, in an

effort to streamline what will inevitably be contentious questioning at trial, I conclude

that STK is entitled to an expert report on York’s opinions, but only to the limited extent

that his testimony will be based upon “scientific, technical, or other specialized

knowledge.”  CHE shall therefore produce within twenty days a report limited
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accordingly.  The motion is denied to the extent it seeks exclusion of York’s testimony,

but allowed to the extent that it seeks production of his opinions.

#584: STK’s Motion to Strike

STK also moves to strike new expert opinions allegedly espoused in CHE’s

expert’s rebuttal reports.  To the extent that the disputed material concerns the ’569

Patent, the motion is denied as moot, as I have already granted CHE summary

judgment on that patent for unrelated reasons.  To the extent that the disputed material

concerns the doctrine of implied license in relation to the ’777 Patent, the motion is

denied as moot because I have rejected CHE’s implied license doctrine on the merits.

Conclusion

Rulings on the parties’ pending motions are summarized below.  Counsel are

requested to forego the customary motions for reconsideration and/or clarification

unless there is a sound legal basis for invoking such. 

PDP’s Motion to Dismiss (#310) is denied.

STK’s Motion to Dismiss (#338) is denied as moot.

STK’s Motion to Strike (#461) is allowed in part and denied in part.

STK’s Motion to Strike (#584) is denied as moot.

CHE’s Motion for Joinder (#608) is allowed.

PDP’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#609), in which York and CHE join as to
Count 2 (##608, 614), is allowed as to Counts 1 and 2.  With respect to Count 9, it is
allowed except as to inducement of infringement of the ’777 Patent, as to which it is
denied. 

CHE’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#616), joined by York (#614), is allowed
as to the ’569 Patent and denied as to the ’777 Patent.
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CHE’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#617), joined by York (#614), is denied
as moot.

CHE’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#618) is denied.

CHE’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (#619) is allowed as to Counts 5 and 10.

STK’s Motion to Dismiss (#622) is denied as moot.

STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#623) is denied.

STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#624) is allowed.

STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#625) is allowed.

STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#626) is allowed as to Counterclaim Counts 3, 4,
5, 6, 7 and 8, and denied as to Counts 9 and 10.

STK’s Motion for Summary Judgment (#627) is allowed in part and denied in part.

STK’s Motion to Strike (#630) is denied.

York’s and PDP’s Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment (#764) is allowed as to
Counts 1, 2, and 8, denied as to Count 3, and denied as moot as to Count 4. 

CHE’s Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment (#767) is allowed as to Counts 5
and 10; denied as to Counts 3 and 6, and denied as moot as to Count 4.

CHE’s Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment (#772) is allowed.

STK’s Request for Oral Argument (#787) is denied as moot.

          06/28/06                /s/ Rya W. Zobel                                  
DATE RYA W. ZOBEL

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE


